
Town of Montreat 
Board of Commissioners 

Special Meeting Agenda – Public Forum 
 September 1, 2016 – 6:30 p.m. 

Walkup Building 
 
 

1 

I. Call to Order 

• Welcome 
• Moment of Silence

II. Agenda Adoption 

III. Public Comments 

IV. Adjournment 
 

Packet Page 1



Town of Montreat 
Board of Commissioners 

Town Council Agenda Meeting 
September 1, 2016 – 7:00 p.m. 

Walkup Building 
 
 

1 

I. Call to Order 

• Pledge of Allegiance 
• Moment of Silence

II. Agenda Adoption 

III. Public Hearing 

A. Proposed Revisions to Town of Montreat Official Zoning Map 

IV. Mayor’s Communications 
 
V. Presentation to Council:  Mr. Rick Lanier – U.S. Motto Action Committee 

  
VI. Consent Agenda 

A.  Meeting Minutes Adoption 

• August 4, 2016, Public Forum 
• August 4, 2016, Town Council Agenda Meeting 
• August 11, 2016, Town Council Meeting 
• Appendix 1 to August 11, 2016, Town Council Meeting 
• August 29, 2016, Special Meeting – Texas Road Bridge Motion Language & 

Possible Resolution to Move Forward as Directed by the Board. --Pending 
 

All items on the Consent Agenda are considered routine, to be enacted by one motion with the 
adoption of the agenda and without discussion.  If a member of the governing body requests 
discussion of an item, it will be removed from the Consent Agenda and considered separately.
 
VII. Town Administrator’s Communications 

• Consent Agenda Review 
• Other Topics 

 
VIII. Administrative Reports 

• Police Chief  
• Public Works Director 
• Finance Officer  
• Building Inspector/Code Administrator 

 

Packet Page 2



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Town Council Agenda Meeting 

   September 1, 2016 
 
 

2 

IX. Public Comment – Agenda Items 

Public comments will be heard during this period for only those items listed on the meeting 
agenda

X. Old Business 

.   

A. Proposed  Revisions to Town of Montreat Official Zoning Map 
• Suggested Motion:  To adopt Ordinance #16-09-0001 amending the Town of 

Montreat Official Zoning Map. 
 

B. Request from Montreat College for the Sign Ordinance to be amended to allow sign 
banners in Montreat  
• Suggested Motion:  To move that the Planning & Zoning Commission review this 

request and report back to Council with their recommendations. 
  

XI. New Business 

A.  Reimbursement of Town Employees for Unexpected Medical Costs 
• Suggested Motion:  To move to reimburse  Town of Montreat employees for 

medical costs incurred during July and August under the United Health Care 
plan, that were above the deductions for prescriptions and medical treatment 
that would have been required under the Blue Cross/Blue Shield Plan. 
 

B.  Resolution #16-09-01 Honoring Susan Neville 
• Suggested Motion:  To adopt Resolution #16-09-01 Honoring Susan Neville – 

Materials Pending 
 

XII. Public Comment – Other Topics 

Public comments will be heard during this period for other public business items or topics not 
listed on the meeting agenda

XIII. Commissioner Communications 

.  

XIV. Meeting Dates 
  
 

Labor Day Holiday Town Services Office Closed: 
Will reopen on Tuesday, September 6th 

Sanitation Pickup will be on Tuesday September 
6th 

Packet Page 3



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Town Council Agenda Meeting 

   September 1, 2016 
 
 

3 

September 7, 2016, 9:00 a.m. Montreat Landcare: 
Allen Building 

Swannanoa Room 
 

September 11, 2016, 7:00 p.m. September Town Council Meeting: 
Walkup Building 

 

September 27, 2016, 10:00 a.m. Montreat Tree Board: 
Town Services Building 

 

 
October Town Council Agenda Meeting: October 6, 2016, 7:00 p.m. 

Public Forum begins at 6:30 p.m. 
Walkup Building 

 
October 13, 2016, 7:00 p.m. October Town Council Meeting: 

Walkup Building 

 
XV. Adjournment 

 

Packet Page 4



Packet Page 5



 

ASS
EM

BLY

DR
MISSISSIPPI RD

LOOKOUT RD

MISSOURI RD

APPALACHIAN

WAY

AS
SEMBLY DR

SA
LEM

DR

HOLST
ON

LN

MISSISSIPPI ROAD EXT

LOUISIANA

RD

LOUISIANA
RD

ARBOR LN

HARMONY
LN

SAINT
ANDREWS

PL

MA
GI

LL
DR

ME
M P

HI
SL

N

TENNESSEE
ROAD EXT

TEXAS RD

SAMUEL B.
LINCOLN'S WAY

GRE
YB

EA
RD

TR
L

KANAWHA DR

GENEVA PL

PROVIDENCE TER

NISBETT LN

OAK LN
COLLEGIATE CIR

WYCKE RD

GREYBEARD TRAILWELLS

PE
AC

E
LN

TEXAS SPUR RD

YALE RD

TENNESSEE RD

MISSISSIPPI RD EXT

GEORGIA TER

HA
RM

ONY LANE

EXT

OVERBROOK RD

MARYLAND PL

SU
WA

NN
EE

DR

ALABAMA TER

WOODLAND RD

EASTMINSTER TER

CHAPMAN RD

JOHN KNOX RD

WE
ST

VIR
GIN

IA
TE

R

FLORIDA
TER

VIR
GI

NI
A

RD

APPALACHIANWAY

APPALACHIAN WAY

GEORGIA
TER

KE
NT

UC
KY

 RD

KE
NT

UC
KY

RD

GREYBEARD TRL

SHENANDOAH TE
R

TEXAS ROAD EXT

GA

TE

CIR

CLE

MECKL
EN

BU
RG CIR

ME
CK

LE
NB

UR
G

CI
R

AS
SE

MB
LY

CI
R

UPWARD WAY

WEST VIRGIN
IA

TE
R

COVENANT
LANE

GREYBEARDTRL

GAITH
ER

CI
R

SOUTH
CAROLINA TER

SO
UT

H
CA

RO
LIN

A
TE

R

FRISTROAD

WHITEWATER COVE ROAD

QUILLAN LN

SPRING HOLLOWHIDEOUT RD
FO

RE
M A

NSIDING RD

HARMONY LN

NORTH
CAROLIN

A
TE

R

WES
TM

IN
ST

ER
TE

R

ARKANSASTRL

NORTH CAROLINA TER

CALVIN TRL

CALVI N
TR L

OKLAHOMA
RD

HANOVER TER

SOUTH
CAROLINA
TER SPUR

COMMUNITY
CENTER CIR

Legend
Corporate Limits
Mountain Ridge 
Ridge Protection Overlay (RPO)
ETJ Extra Territorial Jurisdiction
Montreat Streets
Montreat Parcels
Town Center Overlay
(R-1) Low-Density Residential District
(R-2) Medium-Density Residential
(R-3) *Low-Density Residential 
(I) Institutional District
(I/R) Institutional/Residential District
Woodland District
(CD) Conservation_District

²

0 850 1,700 2,550 3,400425
Feet

Town of MontreatNorth CarolinaOfficial Zoning Map, 2016
Official Zoning Map, Town of Montreat, N.C.
Adopted by Town of Montreat 
Board of Commissioners   November 14, 1985
      Amended June 28, 1990
      Amended May 14, 1992
      Amended August 12, 1993
      Amended January 9, 2003
      Amended September 8, 2005
      Amended September 12, 2013
_____________________________________________________________
                                                                                                               Mayor
_____________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________
                                                                                                       Town Clerk

*Limited Availability of Town Services 
  in These Areas

Packet Page 6



The 
U. S. Motto 

Action Committee

Promoting the public display of 

the national motto of the United States

Hear me, O LORD, hear me, that this people 
may know that thou art the LORD God, and 
that thou hast turned their heart back again.

I Kings 18:37 

USMAC Board

David White, Chair   (336) 239-0473
davidmwhite7@aol.com

Rick Lanier, Vice Chair   (336) 798-7700
7thheaven@windstream.net

Pastor Mark Smith, Secretary   (336) 306-6476
MSDKSmith@icloud.com

Fred McClure, Treasurer   (336) 249-9269
fred@fredmcclure.com

Dr. Ron Baity, Chaplain   (336) 785-0529
rbaity4520@aol.com

Dr. Richard Callahan   (336) 259-9113
richardd.callahan@gmail.com

To defend, promote and assist 
in the  awareness and 

furtherance of our U. S. Motto, 
“In God We Trust,”

on public buildings, structures,                
monuments, the printed page, 

and to encourage our Godly Heritage 
in various other aspects. 

USMAC Mission

What you can do!
Pray
* For municipalities to vote “Yes” to display   
   our National Motto -In God We Trust.
* For pastors to catch our vision and motivate 
   their members in our mission.
* For patriotic individuals to get involved in  
  their local community. 

Promote
* Contact your city or county commissioners 
   to request the U.S. Motto be displayed.
* Ask your pastor or civic organization to 
   invite a member of the USMAC                        
   to share our mission.
* Get involved! One active, energetic voice can  
   make a tremendous difference.

Provide
* USMAC incurs ALL costs to display the U.S.      
   Motto on government buildings. 
* We depend on churches and patriotic 
   individuals to meet these needs.
* Costs range up to $2,500 per location
* Become a USMAC Partner with a One Time     
   Gift to promote a permanent and public  
   reminder of America’s Godly Heritage.

Donations may be mailed to:
USMAC

P.O. Box 1351 
Lexington, NC 27293

(336) 798-7700  usmotto02@gmail.com

In God
we  Trust

If the foundations be destroyed, 
what can the righteous do?

Psalm 11:3 

Packet Page 7



The U.S. Motto Action Committee
actively encourages local elected officials 

across NC and our nation to display the National Motto.
Our purpose is to promote America’s Christian heritage with the hope 

that hearts would turn back to Him.
II Chronicles 7:14

We believe God gave birth to the 
U.S. Motto Action Committee. 

A Brief History

August 2002
With a desire to promote patriotism, David White petitioned 

Commissioner Rick Lanier to place the national motto,                
In God We Trust, on the Davidson County Governmental Center.

November 26, 2002
Commissioner Lanier led the Davidson County Commissioners   

to approve the display of our National Motto.

December 29, 2002
The US Motto was publicly displayed on the

Davidson County Governmental Center.

December 30, 2002
In an effort to promote America’s Godly Heritage, 

David White, Rick Lanier, Todd Clark, and
Fred McClure formed the US Motto Action Committee. Shortly 

thereafter, Pastor Ron Baity was added as Committee Chaplain.

June 24, 2003
Two ACLU-funded attorneys sued Davidson County 

citing the public display of the Motto violated 
the “separation of church and state.”

August 12, 2003
Due to the proactive efforts of the USMAC, the Commissioners 

unanimously decided to fight the lawsuit

May 2004
U. S. District Court Judge William Osteen, Sr.                             

dismissed the lawsuit, citing no church/state conflict

May 13, 2005
The U. S. Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals 

affirmed Judge Osteen’s opinion. 

November 14, 2005
The U. S. Supreme Court refused to hear the case. The decision of 

the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals became case law. 
Ref: Lambeth and Lea vs. Davidson County, NC # 04-1753

To join our effort to publicly display the U.S. Motto on your city or county building, 
contact us at (336) 798-7700 or usmotto02@gmail.com.

Wallburg
Town Hall

Approved on 2/10/2015 Approved on 3/02/2015

Approved on 3/02/2006

“If we ever forget that we are One Nation Under God, 
then we will be one nation gone under.”   Ronald Reagan

Approved on 12/09/2014

Packet Page 8



Dear Honorable Elected Officials,  
 
This is an invitation to join the growing list of cities and counties that are "Voting Yes" to 
proudly and prominently display our national motto, IN GOD WE TRUST, in and on their 
governmental buildings. 
  
My name is Rick Lanier and I am the Co-Founder and Vice Chairman of the US MOTTO 
ACTION COMMITTEE. I served as a County Commissioner of Davidson County in 
Lexington, NC from 1998 to 2002. In 2002, I led my board of Commissioners to  
“Vote Yes”, to display IN GOD WE TRUST, on the exterior our Governmental Center. Soon 
after that several other surrounding cities and counties joined us in doing the same. 
 
To encourage this we formed the US MOTTO ACTION COMMITTEE. Its sole purpose is to 
promote patriotism by encouraging elected officials to "Vote Yes" to display IN GOD WE 
TRUST in and on their governmental Buildings.  
  
Displaying the Motto gives ceremonial honor to public occasions and expresses 
confidence in our society. These words have been used on US Currency since 1864. This 
inspiring slogan is engraved above the entrance of the US Senate Chamber as well as 
above the Speaker’s Seat in the US House of Representatives. On July 30, 1956, during 
the Dwight D. Eisenhower administration, the U.S. Congress adopted IN GOD WE 
TRUST as the official National Motto of the United States of America. Thus, displaying 
our Motto is a legal right, protected by the first amendment.  
 
On November 1, 2011 the U.S. House of Representatives voted overwhelmingly, 396 - 9, 
to reaffirm IN GOD WE TRUST as our nation's motto. Congressman Randy Forbes, of 
Virginia, sponsored the resolution, in part, because some have mistakenly stated that  
"E Pluribus Unum" is our national motto.  Most importantly, the resolution specifically 
encourages the placement of the motto in and on all government buildings from 
courthouses to school classrooms.  A recent survey shows that 87% of all Americans still 
support the display of our National Motto. 
 
In times of both war and peace, these words have been a profound source of strength and 
guidance to many generations of Americans. 
 
As a grassroots patriotic movement, the US MOTTO ACTION COMMITTEE stands on solid 
legal ground. Since Davidson County paved the way, not one legal challenge has been 
raised against any city or county that has "Voted Yes." This effort is legal and there is 
nothing to challenge!  
 
We are very pleased to announce that we are having an overwhelming success with the 
counties and cities that are readily voting "Yes” to display IN GOD WE TRUST, in or on 
their Government Building.   
 
Elected officials like you, are showing a commitment to the values that our country was 
founded upon. 
 
 
 
 
 

Packet Page 9



The purpose of this letter is to urge you to place us on your next possible meeting 
agenda. It would be our pleasure to incur the full cost of this display. 
 
Finally, we welcome you to call or contact us personally with any 
questions or encouragement we can provide. 
 
Thank you, Rick Lanier 

 
Please distribute this "Letter of Invitation" 

 to your Elected Officials and other appropriate staff members via their in box or e-mail 
Thank You.  

  
  

US MOTTO ACTION COMMITTEE 

 
MISSION STATEMENT 

TO DEFEND, PROMOTE, 
AND ASSIST 

IN THE AWARENESS 
AND FURTHERANCE OF OUR 

US MOTTO, 
“IN GOD WE TRUST,” 

ON PUBLIC BUILDINGS, 
STRUCTURES, MONUMENTS, 

THE PRINTED PAGE, 
AND TO ENCOURAGE 

OUR GODLY HERITAGE 
IN VARIOUS OTHER ASPECTS. 

 
USMAC 

PO Box 1351  
Lexington, NC 27293 

E-mail usmotto02@gmail.com 
 
 

DAVID WHITE- Chairman 336-239-0473  davidmwhite7@aol.com 
 
RICK LANIER- Vice Chairman 336-798-7700  7thheaven@windstream.net 
   
FRED MCCLURE- Treasurer 336-249-9269  fred@fredmcclure.com 
 
PASTOR RON BAITY- Chaplain 336-785-0529  rbaity4520@aol.com 
 
MARK SMITH- Secretary  336-306-6476  MSDKSmith@icloud.com 
 
 
 

THE US MOTTO ACTION COMMITTEE 
Established 

DECEMBER 30, 2002 

Packet Page 10

mailto:usmotto02@gmail.com�
mailto:davidmwhite7@aol.com�
mailto:7thheaven@windstream.net�
mailto:fred@fredmcclure.com�
mailto:rbaity4520@aol.com�
mailto:MSDKSmith@icloud.com�


MOTTO ALL LOCATIONS APPROVED

STATE LOCATION  COUNTY APPROVAL INSTALLATION PATROL
DATE PROGRESS DECALS

1 North Carolina Alamance County Alamance 4/6/2015 Complete
2 North Carolina Alexander County Alexander 4/13/2015 Complete 32
3 North Carolina Alleghany County Alleghany 8/17/2015 Complete 24
4 North Carolina Ashe County Ashe 1/20/2015 Complete
5 North Carolina Avery County Avery 7/6/2015 Complete 20
6 North Carolina Brunswick County Brunswick 1/13/2015 Complete
7 North Carolina Burke County Burke 3/7/2015 Complete
8 North Carolina Caldwell County Caldwell 6/15/2015 Complete
9 North Carolina Caswell County Caswell 3/16/2015 Complete

10 North Carolina Chatham County Chatham 5/16/2016 Confirm Size/Location
11 North Carolina Cherokee County Cherokee 2/1/2015 Complete 16
12 North Carolina Clay County Clay 9/3/2015 Complete 22
13 North Carolina Cleveland County Cleveland 2/11/2015 Complete 55
14 North Carolina Columbus County Columbus 8/15/2016 Confirm Size/Location
15 North Carolina Davidson County Davidson 11/26/2002 Complete 130
16 North Carolina Davie County Davie 8/7/2006 Complete
17 North Carolina Gaston County Gaston 2/10/2015 Complete
18 North Carolina Graham County Graham 8/4/2015 Complete 15
19 North Carolina Granville County Granville 8/1/2016 Confirm Size/Location
20 North Carolina Harnett County Harnett 8/1/2016 Confirm Size/Location
21 North Carolina Haywood County Haywood 6/1/1932 Complete 60
22 North Carolina Henderson County Henderson 9/16/2015 Phase 1 Complete 100
23 North Carolina Iredell County Iredell 4/19/2006 Complete
24 North Carolina Lee County Lee 11/17/2014 Complete
25 North Carolina Lincoln County Lincoln 3/16/2015 Complete 140
26 North Carolina Macon County Macon 10/13/2015 Complete 50
27 North Carolina McDowell County McDowell 4/13/2015 Complete 35
28 North Carolina Mitchell County Mitchell 7/13/2015 Complete 17
29 North Carolina Moore County Moore 3/17/2015 Complete
30 North Carolina Montgomery County Montgomery 5/19/2015 Confirm Size/Location
31 North Carolina Pender County Pender 1/5/2015 Complete
32 North Carolina Person County Person 7/18/2016 Confirm Size/Location
33 North Carolina Polk County Polk 7/20/2015 Complete 32
34 North Carolina Randolph County Randolph 4/6/2015 Complete
35 North Carolina Richmond County Richmond 8/2/2016 Confirm Size/Location
36 North Carolina Robeson County Robeson 1/21/2015 Complete
37 North Carolina Rockingham County Rockingham 5/4/2015 Complete
38 North Carolina Rowan County Rowan 4/3/2006 Complete
39 North Carolina Rutherford County Rutherford 7/6/2015 Complete 52
40 North Carolina Scotland County Scotland 5/2/2016 Confirm Size/Location 50
41 North Carolina Stanly County Stanly 2/19/2015 Complete
42 North Carolina Stokes County Stokes 4/13/2015 Complete 48

Packet Page 11



43 North Carolina Surry County Surry 5/18/2015 Complete 80
44 North Carolina Swain County Swain 8/27/2015 Complete 25
45 North Carolina Watauga County Watauga 5/5/2015 Complete 42
46 North Carolina Wilkes County Wilkes 5/5/2015 Complete
47 North Carolina Union County Union 2/16/2015 Complete
48 North Carolina Yadkin County Yadkin 3/2/2006 Complete
49 North Carolina Yancey County Yancey 8/10/2015 Complete

Packet Page 12



STATE LOCATION  COUNTY APPROVAL INSTALLATION PATROL
DATE PROGRESS DECALS

1 North Carolina Badin Town Hall Stanly 9/8/2015 Complete
2 North Carolina Belville Town Hall Brunswick 1/26/2015 Complete
3 North Carolina Cajah's Mtn Town Hall Caldwell 4/5/2016 Ready To Order
4 North Carolina Casar Town Hall Cleveland 6/6/2016 Complete 11
5 North Carolina China Grove Town Hall Rowan 5/5/2015 Complete 30
6 North Carolina Crossnore Town Hall Avery 9/8/2015 Complete
7 North Carolina  Denton Town Hall Davidson 2/2/2015 Complete
8 North Carolina Dillsboro Town Hall Gaston 10/12/2015 Complete
9 North Carolina Elkin City Hall Surry 8/10/2015 Complete

10 North Carolina Elk Park Town Hall Avery 8/3/2015 Complete
11 North Carolina Granite Falls Town Hall Caldwell 9/21/2015 Complete
12 North Carolina Harmony Town Hall Iredell 3/2/2015 Complete
13 North Carolina Hildebran Town Hall Burke 8/24/2015 Complete
14 North Carolina King City Hall Stokes 6/6/2016 Complete 46
15 North Carolina King's Mountain City Hall Cleveland 4/28/2015 Complete
16 North Carolina Lake Lure Town Hall Rutherford 2/9/2016 Complete
17 North Carolina  Lattimore Town Hall Cleveland 3/10/2015 Complete
18 North Carolina Madison Town Hall Rockingham 4/9/2015 Confirm Size/Location
18 North Carolina Mayodan Town Hall Rockingham 5/11/2015 Confirm Size/Location
20 North Carolina Midway Town Hall Davidson 4/6/2015 Complete
21 North Carolina Murphy City Hall Cherokee 4/4/2016 Ordered
22 North Carolina Newland Town Hall Avery 9/1/2015 Complete 2
23 North Carolina Randleman City Hall Randolph 1/5/2016 Ordered
24 North Carolina Rhodhiss Town Hall Burke 7/1/2015 Complete
25 North Carolina  Robbins Town Hall Moore 3/12/2015 Complete
26 North Carolina Shelby City Hall Cleveland 6/6/2016 Confirm Size/Location
27 North Carolina Sawmills Town Hall Caldwell 2/16/2016 Complete
28 North Carolina Stokesdale Town Hall Guilford 4/14/2016 Ordered
29 North Carolina Stoneville Town Hall Rockingham 4/7/2015 Complete
30 North Carolina  Thomasville City Hall Davidson 7/17/2004 Complete
31 North Carolina  Trinity City Hall Randolph 2/28/2015 Complete
32 North Carolina Troutman City Hall Iredell 5/14/2015 Complete
33 North Carolina Wallace Town Hall Duplin 1/7/2015 Complete
34 North Carolina Wallburg Town Hall Davidson 12/9/2014 Complete
35 North Carolina Walnut Cove Town Hall Stokes 1/12/2016 Complete

Packet Page 13



PUBLISHED

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FOURTH CIRCUIT

 

CHARLES F. LAMBETH, JR.; MICHAEL

D. LEA,
Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v. No. 04-1753
THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF

DAVIDSON COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA,
Defendant-Appellee. 

Appeal from the United States District Court
for the Middle District of North Carolina, at Durham.

William L. Osteen, District Judge.
(CA-03-592)

Argued: February 3, 2005

Decided: May 13, 2005

Before WIDENER and KING, Circuit Judges, and
Henry F. FLOYD, United States District Judge for the

District of South Carolina, sitting by designation.

Affirmed by published opinion. Judge King wrote the opinion, in
which Judge Widener and Judge Floyd joined. 

COUNSEL

ARGUED: George Daly, Charlotte, North Carolina, for Appellants.
James Redfern Morgan, Jr., WOMBLE, CARLYLE, SANDRIDGE &
RICE, P.L.L.C., Winston-Salem, North Carolina, for Appellee. ON

Packet Page 14



BRIEF: John W. Gresham, FERGUSON, STEIN, CHAMBERS,
ADKINS, GRESHAM & SUMTER, Charlotte, North Carolina, for
Appellants. 

OPINION

KING, Circuit Judge:

Plaintiffs Charles F. Lambeth, Jr. and Michael D. Lea appeal the
district court’s dismissal of their complaint in this civil action for fail-
ure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. Fed. R. Civ. P.
12(b)(6). Plaintiffs have alleged, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, that
the Board of Commissioners of Davidson County, North Carolina (the
"Board"), violated the Establishment Clause of the First Amendment
when it authorized the phrase "In God We Trust" to be inscribed on
the facade of the Davidson County Government Center (the "Govern-
ment Center"). The district court, upon analyzing the Plaintiffs’ alle-
gations, concluded that they failed to assert a violation of the
Establishment Clause, as measured by the test prescribed by the
Supreme Court in Lemon v. Kurtzman, 403 U.S. 602, 612-13 (1971)
(the "Lemon test"). As explained below, we affirm.

I.

Plaintiffs Lambeth and Lea are lawyers who regularly practice in
the Government Center, located in the City of Lexington, the county
seat of Davidson County, North Carolina. On June 24, 2003, the
Plaintiffs filed this civil action against the Board under § 1983, alleg-
ing a violation of the Establishment Clause of the First Amendment.1

1The Establishment Clause provides, "Congress shall make no law
respecting an establishment of religion . . . ." U.S. Const. amend. I. The
Supreme Court has advised that this protection is incorporated by the
Fourteenth Amendment as a protection against establishment of religion
by the states. See Cantwell v. Connecticut, 310 U.S. 296, 303 (1940)
("The First Amendment declares that Congress shall make no law
respecting an establishment of religion . . . [and] [t]he Fourteenth
Amendment has rendered the legislatures of the states as incompetent as
Congress to enact such laws."). 

2 LAMBETH v. BD. OF COMM’RS

Packet Page 15



They maintain that, around December 31, 2002, the Board unconstitu-
tionally decided to inscribe the national motto, "In God We Trust," on
the Government Center (the "display"). According to the Plaintiffs,
Board members and the public spoke both in favor of and against the
proposed display at the crucial Board meeting, emphasizing the reli-
gious nature of the words "In God We Trust," and observing that the
display depicted the national motto. The display has since been
installed on the front facade of the Government Center in eighteen-
inch block letters. 

On August 21, 2003, the Board moved to dismiss the Plaintiffs’
action pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Proce-
dure, for failure to state a claim upon which relief could be granted.
Soon thereafter, on September 15, 2003, the Plaintiffs filed their First
Amended Complaint (the "Complaint"). On October 2, 2003, the
Board filed another Rule 12(b)(6) motion, asserting that the Com-
plaint was legally deficient and incorporating by reference the conten-
tions made in the Board’s initial motion to dismiss. 

On May 25, 2004, the district court dismissed the Complaint, con-
cluding that it failed to state a claim of a First Amendment violation
on which relief could be granted. Lambeth v. Bd. of Comm’rs, No. 03-
cv-592-WLO (M.D.N.C. May 25, 2004) (the "Memorandum Opin-
ion"). In so ruling, the court determined that the allegations of the
Complaint fail, under the Lemon test, to demonstrate a violation of the
Establishment Clause. Memorandum Opinion at 44. The Plaintiffs
have timely appealed, and we possess jurisdiction pursuant to 28
U.S.C. § 1291. 

II.

We review de novo a district court’s dismissal of a complaint under
Rule 12(b)(6). Duckworth v. State Admin. Bd. of Election Laws, 332
F.3d 769, 772 (4th Cir. 2003). Under controlling principles, a district
court may dismiss a complaint for failure to state a claim only if it
appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts that
would entitle him to relief. Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 45-46
(1957). In assessing a Rule 12(b)(6) issue, we accept as true the fac-
tual allegations of the challenged complaint, see Zinermon v. Burch,
494 U.S. 113, 118 (1990), and we view those allegations in the light

3LAMBETH v. BD. OF COMM’RS

Packet Page 16



most favorable to the plaintiff, Scheuer v. Rhodes, 416 U.S. 232, 236
(1974). On appeal, our inquiry is limited to whether the "pleadings
adequately state a set of facts which, if proven to be true, would enti-
tle [the plaintiff] to judicial relief." Duckworth, 332 F.3d at 772. 

III.

A.

Under our precedent, the Establishment Clause issue presented
here is properly analyzed (as the district court did in making its chal-
lenged ruling), under the Lemon test enunciated by the Supreme
Court. See Mellen v. Bunting, 327 F.3d 355, 370 (4th Cir. 2003)
(applying Lemon test to analysis of Establishment Clause challenge
to state university’s supper prayer). In Lemon, the Court considered
a state statute benefitting parochial school teachers, and assessed the
constitutionality of the statute by examining whether it satisfied three
conditions: first, whether there was a secular purpose behind the stat-
ute; second, whether the statute’s principal or primary effect was one
that neither advanced nor inhibited religion; and third, whether the
statute fostered an "excessive government entanglement with reli-
gion." 403 U.S. at 612-13. To pass muster under the Establishment
Clause, a challenged government action must satisfy each of the
Lemon test’s three criteria. Mellen, 327 F.3d at 367. In County of Alle-
gheny v. American Civil Liberties Union, the Court elaborated on the
Lemon test by examining whether the governmental use of an object
with religious meaning (there, a crèche) had the effect of "endorsing"
religion. 492 U.S. 573, 593-94 (1989). As we recognized in Mellen,
we have treated County of Allegheny’s "endorsement" test as an "en-
hancement of Lemon’s second prong." See Mellen, 327 F.3d at 370-
71. 

In this proceeding, the district court concluded that the Complaint
failed to adequately allege that the display contravened any of the
Lemon test’s three prongs. First of all, the court determined, under the
first prong, that the Complaint failed to allege an entirely religious
purpose behind the Board’s installation of the display. Memorandum
Opinion at 22-24. Next, the court determined, under the second prong,
that the display could not have the primary effect of advancing reli-
gion in the eyes of a reasonable, informed observer. Id. at 24-37.

4 LAMBETH v. BD. OF COMM’RS

Packet Page 17



Finally, the court concluded that the display of the national motto did
not result in an "excessive entanglement" of government with reli-
gion, and thus that it did not contravene the third prong. Id. at 37-44.

On appeal, the Plaintiffs contend that the district court erred in its
application of the Lemon test, and that the allegations of the Com-
plaint are sufficient to proceed to discovery. They maintain that the
Complaint alleges that the Board’s "dominant" purpose in approving
the display was religious, which, they contend, is sufficient to allege
that the display fails the Lemon test’s first prong; that the effect of the
display is to advance or endorse religion, prohibited by the Lemon
test’s second prong; and that the display results in an excessive entan-
glement of government with religion, precluded by the Lemon test’s
third prong. Pursuant to Lemon and its progeny, we assess de novo
the alleged constitutional defects of the display.

1.

We first assess, under prong one of the Lemon test, whether the
Complaint sufficiently alleges that the Board’s adoption of the chal-
lenged display lacked a secular intent. As the district court observed,
the Complaint alleges that both secular and religious aspects of the
display were discussed at the crucial Board meeting. Memorandum
Opinion at 22-24. The Complaint alleges that Board members, and
members of the public as well, "emphasized" at the Board meeting the
religious nature of the phrase "In God We Trust," and that the display
was thereafter adopted. Complaint at ¶ 3(u)-(v). The Complaint fur-
ther alleges that one Board member observed that voting against the
installation of the display would be perceived by the public as a vote
against God. Id. at ¶ 3(y). Finally, the Complaint also alleges that "the
fact that these words are also the national motto was mentioned but
not emphasized at the meeting at which defendant authorized the dis-
play." Id. at ¶ 3(w). 

Although the Plaintiffs contend that their allegations are sufficient
in this regard, we are constrained to disagree. Under applicable
Supreme Court precedent, a "legitimate secular purpose" supporting
a challenged governmental action will suffice to satisfy the Lemon
test’s first prong. See Lynch v. Donnelly, 465 U.S. 668, 681 (1984).
And, as we have previously observed, the demonstration of such a

5LAMBETH v. BD. OF COMM’RS

Packet Page 18



legitimate secular purpose is "a fairly low hurdle." Brown v. Gilmore,
258 F.3d 265, 276 (4th Cir. 2001). Indeed, we will deem the first
prong of the Lemon test to be contravened "only if [the action] is
‘entirely motivated by a purpose to advance religion.’" See Mellen,
327 F.3d at 372 (quoting Wallace v. Jaffree, 472 U.S. 38, 56 (1985)).

A legitimate secular purpose is thus sufficient to pass muster under
the first prong of the Lemon test, unless the alleged secular purpose
is in fact pretextual. See Santa Fe Ind. Sch. Dist. v. Doe, 530 U.S.
290, 308-09 (2000); see also Stone v. Graham, 449 U.S. 39, 41 (1980)
("The Ten Commandments are undeniably a sacred text in the Jewish
and Christian faiths, and no legislative recitation of a supposed secu-
lar purpose can blind us to that fact."). In this matter, the Complaint
fails to allege that the Board’s discussion of the phrase "In God We
Trust" as the national motto was a pretext for its religious motiva-
tions, and thereby fails to allege that there was no legitimate secular
purpose to the Board’s approval of the display. As a result, the dis-
play’s installation, on the basis of allegations of the Complaint, does
not contravene the Lemon test’s first prong.2

2.

Turning to the Lemon test’s second prong, we next assess whether
the Complaint alleges that the display’s principal or primary effect is
to advance or inhibit religion, or whether the display has the effect of
"endorsing" religion. In this regard, the Plaintiffs contend that the dis-
trict court erred in concluding that the Complaint’s allegations of the
religious meaning and effect of the display fail to contravene the
Lemon test’s second prong. Again, we disagree. 

2The Plaintiffs contend that they are required to demonstrate an "en-
tirely religious" purpose for the display only after discovery has been
completed, rather than in their Complaint at the pleading stage. However,
a complaint must contain a short and plain statement showing an entitle-
ment to relief. Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a). While the sufficiency of the Com-
plaint’s allegations presents a close question, the Plaintiffs have
conceded in the Complaint that there was some secular purpose in the
display, without alleging that the purported secular purpose was pretex-
tual. The Plaintiffs have therefore failed to establish a dispute over the
display’s purpose that would justify discovery. 

6 LAMBETH v. BD. OF COMM’RS

Packet Page 19



a.

We have heretofore characterized the phrase, "In God We Trust,"
when used as the national motto on coins and currency, as a "patriotic
and ceremonial motto" with "no theological or ritualistic impact."
Carolina Civil Liberties Union Legal Found. v. Constangy, 947 F.2d
1145, 1151 (4th Cir. 1991). The use of the challenged phrase as the
national motto is long-standing, and it has been used extensively over
the years by the federal government. By way of example, Congress
first authorized the National Mint to include "In God We Trust" on
coins in 1865, and made its inclusion mandatory on gold and silver
coins in 1908. Its use was extended to the national currency in 1955.
Importantly, Congress made "In God We Trust" the national motto in
1956, and the motto is inscribed above the Speaker’s Chair in the
House of Representatives, and also above the main door of the Senate
Chamber. 

The Supreme Court has strongly indicated on several occasions,
albeit in dicta, that governmental use of the motto "In God We Trust,"
does not, at least in certain contexts, contravene the mandate of the
Establishment Clause. See County of Allegheny, 492 U.S. at 602-03
("[O]ur previous opinions have considered in dicta the ["In God We
Trust"] motto . . ., characterizing [it] as consistent with the proposi-
tion that government may not communicate an endorsement of reli-
gious belief."); Lynch, 465 U.S. at 693 (O’Connor, J., concurring)
("[G]overnment’s display of the crèche in this particular physical set-
ting [is] no more an endorsement of religion than such governmental
‘acknowledgments’ of religion as . . . [the] printing of ‘In God We
Trust’ on coins . . . ."). Such observations by the Court, interpreting
the First Amendment and clarifying the application of its Establish-
ment Clause jurisprudence, constitute the sort of dicta that has consid-
erable persuasive value in the inferior courts. See Garris v. Norfolk
Shipbldg. & Drydock Corp., 210 F.3d 209, 227 (4th Cir. 2000) (Hall,
J., concurring) (observing that Court’s interpretation of its own opin-
ion is persuasive). 

As the Plaintiffs properly recognize, however, the County’s instal-
lation of the national motto on the facade of the Government Center
constitutes a governmental action which goes beyond the traditional
uses of the phrase, as discussed in the Court’s dicta and by our prece-

7LAMBETH v. BD. OF COMM’RS

Packet Page 20



dent, which have been limited to the phrase’s appearance on coins and
currency, and as the national motto. Plaintiffs urge that, no matter
how the challenged phrase is viewed in its use on coins, currency, and
in other long-standing contexts, such uses are inapposite to the
Board’s display here — only recently installed on the Government
Center. As a result, the Plaintiffs urge us to view the Board’s use of
the phrase on a blank slate. And, they contend, when viewed in that
light, an objective observer would understand the Board’s display of
this "religious creed" as an unconstitutional endorsement of religion.

Plaintiffs’ contention on this point, however, slightly mischaracter-
izes the analysis required under the Lemon test’s second prong. It sug-
gests that anything not wholly secular contravenes the Establishment
Clause, unless it has been specifically "grandfathered" by longstand-
ing use. The proper analysis is the converse: whether a particular dis-
play, with religious content, would cause a reasonable observer to
fairly understand it in its particular setting as impermissibly advanc-
ing or endorsing religion. See County of Allegheny, 492 U.S. at 598-
00. As the Supreme Court observed in Lynch, to "[f]ocus exclusively
on the religious component of any activity would inevitably lead to
its invalidation under the Establishment Clause." 465 U.S. at 680.
Instead, the Court has consistently concluded that displays with reli-
gious content — but also with a legitimate secular use — may be per-
missible under the Establishment Clause. See, e.g., County of
Allegheny, 492 U.S. at 579 (concluding that display of menorah did
not violate Establishment Clause). 

In this situation, the reasonable observer must be deemed aware of
the patriotic uses, both historical and present, of the phrase "In God
We Trust." See Good News Club v. Milford Cent. Sch., 533 U.S. 98,
119 (2001) ("‘[T]he reasonable observer in the endorsement inquiry
must be deemed aware of the history and context of the community
and forum in which the religious [speech takes place]’") (quoting
Capitol Square Review and Advisory Bd. v. Pipette, 515 U.S. 753,
779-80 (1995) (O’Connor, J., concurring)). As a result, we are
obliged to assess the Board’s use of the national motto on the facade
of the Government Center in its full context — as a statement with
religious content, and as one with legitimate secular associations born
of its consistent use on coins and currency, and as the national motto.
The question under the Lemon test’s second prong is whether, taking

8 LAMBETH v. BD. OF COMM’RS

Packet Page 21



these associations into account, the display’s principal or primary
effect is to advance or inhibit religion; or, put differently, whether an
informed, reasonable observer would view the display as an endorse-
ment of religion. We now turn to an assessment of that question.

b.

The Plaintiffs maintain that, in making this analysis under the
Lemon test’s second prong, we must consider the reasonable observer
to be aware of the religious comments made in favor of the display
at the Board meeting where it was authorized. However, as the district
court determined, the allegations of the Complaint on the Board’s
intent are inapplicable to the Lemon test’s second prong. The first and
second prongs of the Lemon test are intended to assess different
aspects of a challenged government action. Prong one of the Lemon
test looks at the purpose behind such an action, and allows the action
to stand if it is not "entirely motivated by religion." Mellen, 327 F.3d
at 372. Prong two, by contrast, assesses the effect of the action,
Lemon, 403 U.S. at 612-13, and inquires "whether, irrespective of
government’s actual purpose, the practice under review in fact con-
veys a message of endorsement or disapproval [of religion]," Mellen,
327 F.3d at 373 (quoting Wallace, 472 U.S. at 56 n. 42). Prong two
thus looks to the effect of the display itself, not to the display’s origin.
See Constangy, 947 F.2d at 1151 (explaining that, under the Lemon
test’s second prong, "intent is irrelevant"). 

With these principles in mind, we are constrained to conclude,
under the Lemon test’s second prong, that the installation of the
national motto "In God We Trust" on the Government Center would
not cause a reasonable observer to fairly understand the purpose of
the message "in its particular physical setting" to impermissibly
advance or endorse religion. County of Allegheny, 492 U.S. at 598-00;
see also Good News Club, 533 U.S. at 119 (emphasizing that Estab-
lishment Clause does not create a "heckler’s veto"). The Complaint
alleges no circumstances — such as an inappropriate context or char-
acter — to negate the legitimate secular connotations arising from the
long-standing patriotic uses in this country of the phrase "In God We
Trust." A reasonable observer contemplating the inscription of the
phrase on the Government Center would recognize it as recently
installed, but also as incorporating familiar words — a phrase with

9LAMBETH v. BD. OF COMM’RS

Packet Page 22



religious overtones, to be sure, but also one long-used, with all its
accompanying secular and patriotic connotations as our national
motto and currency inscription. In this setting, we thus conclude that
the Board’s use of the national motto in the challenged display does
not contravene the Lemon test’s second prong.

3.

Finally, we are obliged to assess, under the Lemon test’s final
prong, whether the Complaint sufficiently alleged that the challenged
display has created an "excessive entanglement" between government
and religion. In this regard, Plaintiffs contend that the district court
erroneously declined to consider their allegations of "political divi-
siveness," which they deem to be pertinent to the issue of "excessive
entanglement." 

The type of "divisive political potential" which the Supreme Court
has identified as a concern under the Establishment Clause is "politi-
cal division along religious lines." Lemon, 403 U.S. at 622. And, as
we recognized in Ehlers-Renzi v. Connelly School of the Holy Child,
Inc., the Court has confined its "political divisiveness" rubric to
"‘cases where direct financial subsidies are paid to parochial schools
or to teachers in parochial schools.’" 224 F.3d 283, 292 (4th Cir.
2000) (quoting Mueller v. Allen, 463 U.S. 388, 403-04 n. 11 (1983)).
The Court’s "political divisiveness" rubric is thus inapplicable to the
circumstances of this case. 

Moreover, there are no other apparent grounds, either alleged in or
arising from the Complaint, on which to find an "excessive entangle-
ment" between government and religion in this case that would con-
travene the Lemon test’s third prong. The kind of excessive
entanglement of government and religion precluded by Lemon is
characterized by "comprehensive, discriminating, and continuing state
surveillance" of religious exercise, see Lemon, 403 U.S. at 619, which
is simply not present here. The display on the Government Center
does not require pervasive monitoring or other maintenance by public
authorities. See Mueller, 463 U.S. at 403 (explaining that such com-
prehensive surveillance is "necessary [for a challenged action] to run
afoul of" Lemon’s third prong); see also Agostini v. Felton, 521 U.S.
203, 233-34 (1997) (concluding that program of sending public

10 LAMBETH v. BD. OF COMM’RS

Packet Page 23



school teachers into parochial schools to provide remedial education
to disadvantaged children did not result in excessive entanglement).
Nor does the display require any other sort of continued and repeated
government involvement with religion. See Mellen, 327 F.3d at 375
(determining that public university’s supper prayer violated Lemon’s
third prong because school officials "composed, mandated, and moni-
tored a daily prayer"). As a result of the foregoing, we must also con-
clude that the display does not contravene the Lemon test’s third
prong.

B.

In sum, even accepting the allegations of the Complaint as true, the
display does not contravene any of the three prongs of the Lemon test.
The Complaint fails to sufficiently allege that the display had no legit-
imate secular purpose; that it has the effect of advancing or endorsing
religion; or that it results in an excessive entanglement of government
and religion. As a result, we agree with the comprehensive analysis
made by the district court with regard to this dispute, see Memoran-
dum Opinion at 18-44, and conclude that the Complaint fails to state
a claim for relief under the Establishment Clause upon which relief
can be granted. 

IV.

Pursuant to the foregoing, we affirm the judgment of the district
court.

AFFIRMED

11LAMBETH v. BD. OF COMM’RS

Packet Page 24



RESOLUTION BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
_______________________, IN ____________________ COUNTY,  

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA, 
SUPPORTING THE DISPLAY OF THE NATIONAL MOTTO 
“IN GOD WE TRUST” IN A PROMINENT LOCATION AT   

______________________, _____________________, NORTH CAROLINA 
 

 
WHEREAS, “In God We Trust” became the United States national motto on July 30, 
1956, shortly after our nation led the world through the trauma of World War II and 
 
WHEREAS, the words have been used on U.S. currency since 1864; and 
 
WHEREAS, the same inspiring slogan is engraved above the entrance to the Senate 
Chamber as well as above the Speaker’s dais in the House of Representatives; and 
 
WHEREAS, in both war and peace, these words have been a profound source of strength 
and guidance to many generations of Americans; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City desires to display this patriotic motto in a way to solemnize public 
occasions and express confidence in our society. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED the City Council of ________________ 
does hereby resolve as follows: 
 
Section 1. That the City Council of the City of ___________________, 
North Carolina, does hereby determine that the historic and patriotic words of our 
national motto, “In God We Trust” shall be permanently and prominently displayed 
on________________________________________ at _________________________, 
________________________, North Carolina, and to remain there in perpetuity. 
 
Section 2. The City Clerk shall certify to the passage and adoption of this resolution and 
enter it into the book of resolutions. 
 
PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City Council of 
the city of ___________________, North Carolina, held on the 
________ day of ________________, 20____ 
 
 

Add names and signatures of Mayor and Council Members. 

Packet Page 25



Town of Montreat 
Board of Commissioners 

Town Council Public Forum  
August 4, 2016 

Walkup Building 
  

 

Book 15; Page  

Board members present
Mayor Pro Tem Kitty Fouche  

: Mayor Tim Helms 

Commissioner Kent Otto 
Commissioner Mary Standaert 
Commissioner Ann Vinson 
 

Board members absent:
 

 Commissioner Bill Gilliland 

Town staff present
Steve Freeman, Public Works Director 

:  Al Richardson, Interim Town Administrator 

Barry Creasman, Senior Water Operator 
Angie Murphy, Town Clerk 
Steve Stackhouse, Finance Officer 

     

 
Call to Order 

Approximately 12 people were in attendance.  Mayor Helms called the meeting to order at 6:30 
p.m. and led the group in a moment of silence. 
 

 
Agenda Approval 

Commissioner Vinson moved to adopt the agenda as presented.  Commissioner Otto seconded 
and the agenda was approved 4/0. 
 

 
Public Forum 

Ms. Ginny Porter of 388 Appalachian Way, expressed her appreciation for the recent paving on 
Appalachian Way.  She thanked the Public Works Crews for all of their hard work putting the 
finishing touches on the curbs and edges of the road.  Ms. Porter mentioned a semi truck had 
blocked Lookout Road and Community Circle last week and it would be nice to have a bridge on 
Texas Road for an alternative exit out of Montreat.  
 
Mr. Wade Burns of 232 North Carolina Terrace, expressed his appreciation for the hard-working 
Public Works Crews.  Mr. Burns articulated his thanks to the Board for the continued openness and 
welcoming attitude of the Public Forum comment period.   
 

 
Adjournment 

There being no further discussion, Commissioner Vinson moved to adjourn the Public Forum 
Meeting.  Mayor Pro Tem Fouche seconded and the motion carried 4/0.  The meeting was 

Packet Page 26



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Public Forum Minutes 

August 4, 2016 
 

 

Book 15; Page  

adjourned at 6:35 p.m. 
 
 
 
__________________________________  ______________________________________ 
  Tim Helms, Mayor     Angie Murphy, Town Clerk 
 

 
 
 

Packet Page 27



Town of Montreat 
Board of Commissioners 

Town Council Agenda Meeting 
August 4, 2016 

Walkup Building 
  

  

Book 14; Page  

Board members present
Mayor Pro Tem Kitty Fouche 

: Mayor Tim Helms 

Commissioner Kent Otto 
Commissioner Mary Standaert 
Commissioner Ann Vinson 

 
Board members absent:
 

 Commissioner Bill Gilliland 

Town staff present
Angie Murphy, Town Clerk 

:  Al Richardson, Interim Town Administrator 

Steve Stackhouse, Finance Officer 
Barry Creasman, Senior Water Operator 
Steve Freeman, Public Works Director 

     
Approximately 25 members of the public were also present.  Mayor Helms called the meeting to 
order at 7:00 p.m., and led the group in reciting the Pledge of Allegiance and a moment of silence. 
 

 
Agenda Approval 

Mayor Helms advised the Board that Montreat College had asked to deliver a presentation at next 
week’s meeting regarding signage, pole banner requests and consideration for special parking.  
There was a brief discussion about whether it would simply be a presentation or would Council 
Action be required.  Commissioner Standaert stressed that while she was open to hearing the 
presentation she felt that the Rules of Procedure should be followed a little more closely.  
Montreat College should have submitted their request to the Town Clerk on the Friday before this 
evening’s meeting if they were expecting immediate action to be taken.  Mayor Pro Tem Fouche 
wanted to have an option to vote on an action if necessary.  Mayor Helms stated that he wanted 
to hear the presentation first with possibility of discussion and action if deemed necessary.  Mayor 
Pro Tem Fouche moved to add the presentation to the agenda.  Commissioner Vinson seconded 
and the motion passed 4/0.  Commissioner Vinson moved to adopt the agenda as amended.  
Commissioner Otto seconded and the motion to approve the Agenda as amended carried 4/0. 
 

 
Mayor’s Communications 

Mayor Helms stated that he had no further communications. 
 

 
Consent Agenda Review 

The proposed Consent Agenda will include the following items: 
 

Packet Page 28



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Town Council Agenda Meeting Minutes 

August 4, 2016 
  

  

Book 14; Page  

• July 7, 2016, Special Meeting, Interim Town Administrator Interview 
• July 7, 2016, Public Forum 
• July 7, 2016, Town Council Agenda Meeting 
• July 14, 2016 Town Council Meeting 
• July 28, 2016, Special Workshop, Qualifications/Requirements for Town Administrator Position 

& Employee Health insurance Discussion 
• Adopt Corporate Authorization Resolutions #16-08-0001 through #16-08-0009 amending the 

Town of Montreat’s list of authorized signers with Asheville Savings Bank and designating Al 
Richardson, Angela Murphy, Kent Otto and Tim Helms as authorized signers for the Town’s 
accounts at Asheville Savings Bank. 

• Adopt Corporate Authorization Resolutions amending the Town of Montreat’s list of authorized 
signers with BB&T and designating Al Richardson, Angela Murphy, Kent Otto and Tim Helms as 
authorized signers for the Town’s accounts at BB&T. 
 

• Mr. Richardson advised the Board that 4 resumes had been received at this time for the Town 
Administrator position 

Town Administrator’s Communications 

 
Administrative Reports 

The Board will hear administrative reports from the Police Chief, Public Works Director, Finance 
Officer and Building Inspector/Code Administrator during next week’s Town Council meeting.   
 

 
Public Comment – Agenda Items 

Mayor Helms reiterated that this Public Comment period was intended for remarks pertaining to 
items listed on the meeting agenda, including staff reports and communications.   
 
There were no comments from the public at this time. 
 

 
Old Business 

A. Texas Road Bridge Discussion:

 

  Commissioner Standaert felt there were some inconsistencies 
between the letter from DeWayne Sikes of KCI Associates of NC dated August 2, 2016 and an 
email from Ray Lotfi of North Carolina Department of Transportation dated August 3, 2016 
with regards to availability of federal monies if a different bridge location is selected.  Mr. 
Richardson advised that he would gather more information and report back to Council next 
week. 

 

Packet Page 29



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Town Council Agenda Meeting Minutes 

August 4, 2016 
  

  

Book 14; Page  

 

 
New Business 

A. Proposed Revisions to Town of Montreat Official Zoning Map:

 

  The Board will be asked to call 
for a Public Hearing on September 8, 2016 at 7:00 p.m. or as soon thereafter as possible to 
discuss proposed revisions to Town of Montreat Official Zoning Map.   

B. Town Hall Committee:

 

  Commissioner Standaert feels that all meetings of the newly formed 
Town Hall Committee should be held as Special Meetings of the Town Council, so that all 
members of the Town Council can attend without any question of violating the State of North 
Carolina Open Meetings Law.    Commissioner Standaert stated that there were issues during 
the Montreat Bridge Committee and she was advised by the Town Attorney and Town 
Administrator not to attend because it would constitute an official meeting.  Mayor Helms 
advised that all Commissioners could be in attendance as long as they sit separately from each 
other, do not participate in the meeting or discuss the meeting afterwards.  Commissioner 
Standaert feels that in order to do that she would need something in writing from the Town 
Attorney.    

C. Discussion of Rule 4 of the Town of Montreat Rules of Procedure as it pertains to the role of 
the Agenda Meeting:

 

  Commissioner Standaert feels that the Board has drifted away from the 
previously established Rules of Procedure and she feels that too many motions are being made 
on the floor without previously being discussed at the Agenda Meeting. 

D. Blue Cross Blue Shield Insurance Discussion:

 

  Mayor Helms advised that when the Board 
switched from Blue Cross Blue Shield to United Health Care on July 1st it was with the 
understanding that employees would not be negatively affected with co-pays or prescription 
coverage.  Since the change employees have been denied much needed medications and in 
some cases co-pays have tripled.  Mayor Helms stated that even though switching to United 
Health Care brought significant savings to the Town it was not worth the employees taking the 
brunt of the financial hardship.  

E. Charter Spectrum Internet/Cable/Telephone Bundle Discussion:

 

  Interim Town Administrator 
Al Richardson will present to the Board the cost savings of switching to Charter Spectrum 
Business Bundle and the positive impact it will have on the quality of work in the Town 
Services Building.  Currently the Town utilizes AT&T and the internet/server service goes out 
multiple times a day.  Electronic Office who services the Town computers highly recommends 
switching to Charter due to the lack of connectivity with AT&T.  This bundle will save the Town 
a significant amount of money while adding more services such as Cable TV Service which is 
needed by both the Public Works Department and Police Department. 

 
 

Packet Page 30



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Town Council Agenda Meeting Minutes 

August 4, 2016 
  

  

Book 14; Page  

 
Public Comment-Other Topics 

Mayor Helms reiterated that this Public Comment period was intended for remarks pertaining to 
public business items not listed on the meeting agenda, including any reports or communications 
from other community entities. 
 
There were no comments from the public at this time. 
 

 
Commissioner Communications 

There were no Commissioner Communications at this time. 
 

 
Upcoming Meeting Dates 

Mayor Helms reviewed the following list of upcoming meeting dates and deadlines next week.   
 

 
August Town Council Meeting: August 11, 2016, 7:00 p.m. 

Walkup Building 
 

 
Montreat Tree Board: August 23, 2016, 10:00 a.m. 

Town Services Building 
 

 
September Agenda Meeting: September 1, 2016, 7:00 p.m. 

Walkup Building 
Public Forum begins at 6:30 p.m. 

 

 
Montreat Landcare: September 7, 2016, 9:00 a.m. 

Allen Building 
Swannanoa Room 

 
September 8, 2016, 7:00 p.m. September Town Council Meeting: 

Walkup Building 
 

 

 
Adjournment 

There being no further business, Commissioner Vinson moved to adjourn the Agenda Meeting.  
Commissioner Otto seconded and the motion carried 4/0.  The meeting was adjourned at 7:28 
p.m.  
 
 
 

Packet Page 31



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Town Council Agenda Meeting Minutes 

August 4, 2016 
  

  

Book 14; Page  

   
Tim Helms, Mayor   Angie Murphy, Town Clerk 

 

Packet Page 32



Town of Montreat 
Board of Commissioners 

Town Council Meeting 
August 11, 2016 
Walkup Building 

 

Book 14; Page 

 
Board members present

Mayor Pro Tem Kitty Fouche 
: Mayor Tim Helms 

Commissioner Kent Otto 
Commissioner Mary Standaert 
 

Board members absent:
    Commissioner Ann Vinson     

 Commissioner Bill Gilliland 

 
Town staff present

Stefan Stackhouse, Finance Officer & Deputy Town Clerk 
:  Al Richardson, Interim Town Administrator 

Steve Freeman, Public Works Director 
Barry Creasman, Senior Water Operator 
David Arrant, Master Police Officer 
Angie Murphy, Town Clerk 
David Currie, Code Administrator/Building Inspector 

     
Approximately 35 members of the public were also present.  Mayor Helms called the meeting to 
order at 7:00 p.m., led the group in reciting the Pledge of Allegiance, and held a moment of 
silence.  Mayor Helms advised that a quorum was present and the meeting would move forward 
as planned. 
 

 
Agenda Approval 

Commissioner Standaert moved to adopt the agenda.  Commissioner Otto seconded and the 
motion carried 3/0. 

 
Mayor’s Communications 

Mayor Helms announced the members of the Town Hall Committee whom he appointed at the 
request of a motion from Mayor Pro Tem Fouche at the July Town Council Meeting.  The members 
are as follows:  Chairman Brinkley Melvin, Bill Scheu, Mayor Pro Tem Kitty Fouche, Jane Holt, 
Gordon Neville and Mike Collie. 
 

 
Presentation to Council:  Montreat College Campus Signage Proposal 

Annie Carlson, Executive Director of Marketing & Communications and Kristin Janes, Vice 
President for Enrollment Management of Montreat College presented a Campus Signage Proposal 
to the Board in the hopes of promoting awareness, school spirit, property distinction and 
competitiveness.  Montreat College continues to show growing enrollment and an increase of 
campus visitors.  There is some ambiguity about the “entrance” to campus, the boundaries of 
campus, and where guests should go.  Montreat College Staff would like to work with the Town of 

Packet Page 33



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Town Council Meeting Minutes 

August 11, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page 

Montreat to find a solution to help visitors have a better experience.   
 
The College has two signage requests:  Admission/Guest parking on Gaither Circle and Light Pole 
Banners.  Admissions saw a 40% increase in campus visitors during the 2015-2016 school year and 
is expected to continue to increase in 2016-2017.  There is a need for easily accessible parking 
spots for prospective students and their families.  Montreat College Staff feels like two signs are 
needed on Gaither Circle:  install one in road in front of flower bed and replace existing “No 
Parking” sign with campus parking sign.  They would also like a second “No Parking Sign” removed.  
Currently the Town of Montreat Sign Ordinance does not allow signs in the right-of-way.  If the 
requested parking signs are in right-of-way, Montreat College Staff requests that the Town make 
an exception so they can proceed with sign installation.     
  
Montreat College Staff would like to have approval to install 30 Light Pole Banners on the 
Montreat College campus including some areas of town right-of-way.  These banners are intended 
to build visitor awareness of Montreat College visually; instill pride in students, employees and 
alumni; give adequate campus property distinction from the rest of the town; and bring the 
Montreat College campus experience in line with other college campuses, making the college 
more appealing to prospective students and parents. 
 
Commissioner Standaert would like to see this topic placed on the September agenda meeting to 
allow Town Staff to review ordinances and Wayfinding Advisory Committee documents.  
Commissioner Otto asked what kind of time frame the College was anticipating to implement 
these changes. Ms. Janes stated that they hoped to get the parking addressed prior to the onset of 
students arriving to campus to set a precedent that the parking spots are reserved for guests and 
admissions.  Ms. Carlson advised that with the light pole banners there was not the same kind of 
urgency as with the parking but the sooner the better would be ideal.  Commissioner Standaert 
felt that the parking situation could be handled administratively and would not need action from 
Council.  Mayor Helms asked Mr. Currie and Mr. Freeman to meet with the College and discuss the 
parking situation further.  After much discussion it was decided that the light pole banners would 
be added to the September agenda. 

 

 
Consent Agenda Review 

With the adoption of the Consent Agenda, the Board approved the following items:  
• July 7, 2016, Special Meeting Minutes, Interim Town Administrator Interview as Amended 
• July 7, 2016, Public Forum Minutes 
• July 7, 2016, Town Council Agenda Meeting Minutes 
• July 14, 2016, Town Council Meeting Minutes 
• July 28, 2016, Special Workshop, Qualifications/Requirements for Town Administrator 

Position & Employee Health Insurance Discussion Minutes 
• Adopted Corporate Authorization Resolutions #16-08-0001 through #16-08-0009 amending 

the Town of Montreat’s list of authorized signers with Asheville Savings Bank and 

Packet Page 34



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Town Council Meeting Minutes 

August 11, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page 

designating Al Richardson, Angela Murphy, Kent Otto and Tim Helms as authorized signers 
for the Town’s accounts at Asheville Savings Bank. 

• Adopted Corporate Authorization Resolutions amending the Town of Montreat’s list of 
authorized signers with BB&T and designating Al Richardson, Angela Murphy, Kent Otto 
and Tim Helms as authorized signers for the Town’s accounts at BB&T. 

 

 
Town Administrator’s Communications 

• Interim Town Administrator Al Richardson acknowledged that the Town Clerk did a great job 
distributing the ads for the Town Administrator position to the applicable print and online 
sources and as of today there are 11 resumes and applications in hand. 

• Mr. Richardson thanked the staff and the residents of Montreat for welcoming him with open 
arms. 

• In response to a question from Commissioner Standaert at a previous meeting, Mr. Richardson 
reported that the Montreat Police Department was working in conjunction with the Black 
Mountain Police Department, Black Mountain Fire Department and Montreat Conference 
Center to coordinate the Lookout Brewery to Lookout Trail to Lookout Brewery race which will 
take place on October 15. 

• Mr. Richardson briefly touched on the amount of money it will take to reopen the planning 
document for the Texas Road Bridge Project. Mr. Richardson stated that in a conference call in 
May Mr. John Williams of the NC Department of Transportation had advised that he would 
open the planning documents free of charge and assist with the applicable chosen option.   

• In response to a question from Commissioner Standaert about inconsistencies between 
correspondence from DeWayne Sykes of KCI and Ray Lotfi of NCDOT, Mr. Richardson stated 
that Mr. Sykes did not talk about the 80% - 20% matching funds whereas Mr. Lotfi did discuss 
this topic.  Mr. Richardson stated that we will not know how much money is needed to 
payback until a decision is made on the Texas Road Bridge Project.   
   

 
Administrative Reports 

Police:  Officer Arrant reviewed and presented the July 2016 monthly departmental activity report.  
He stated that July was a very busy month for visitors to Montreat due to the warm temperatures 
and increase in population.  Officer Arrant reported two different bat calls that were taken care of 
during the month.  If a bat is found in a residence and is still active, please contact Terminex or any 
other pest control carrier.  They are licensed to handle live bats whereas Montreat Police 
Department can only remove the bat if it is already deceased.  Bats are the number one carrier of 
rabies and their bites are virtually undetectable.  If medical officials are unable to ascertain 
whether a bat bite has occurred subjects will have to undergo the painful and often expensive 
process of rabies shots.  Officer Arrant reminded everyone that seat belts for children do apply 
within the Montreat Gates.  On behalf of Chief Staggs, Officer Arrant thanked everyone in the 
community for their kind words, support and encouragement during this time of unrest in law 
enforcement in other parts of our nation.  Chief Staggs will be including a new section in his 

Packet Page 35



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Town Council Meeting Minutes 

August 11, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page 

monthly reports entitled “Chief Concerns” where he will be highlighting specific issues that have 
occurred in Town or giving helpful tips and advice.  Commissioner Standaert reiterated 
appreciation on behalf of the Board to the Montreat Police Department. 
 
Public Works Director
• Public Works Crews continue to finalize the curbing, side-dress and drainage on Appalachian 

Way. 

:   

• There were several large felled trees as a result of rain and windstorms that were cleared from 
the roadways. 

•  Mr. Freeman briefly reviewed the results from McGill Associates with regards to the Oklahoma 
Road Extension.  This concept plan and estimate are divided into five phases within the 
proposed development, as well as improvements to Oklahoma Road to capture the costs for 
paving and extending utilities to the subject properties.  Due to the steepness in topography 
and the current location of right-of-way routes, earthwork and retaining wall costs are a major 
component in each of the phases.  Based on the stream information provided in Buncombe 
County’s GIS, numerous stream crossings in excess of 300 linear feet are necessary to serve the 
lots.   Commissioner Standaert would like to revisit this report once a new Town Administrator 
is in place. 

 
Finance Officer
 

:  Mr. Stackhouse presented and reviewed the following monthly reports: 

• June 2016 Financial Summary Report; 
• Final June 2016 Detailed Financial Statement; 
• Preliminary July 2016 Detailed Financial Statement; 
• July 31, 2016 Cash and Investment Earnings Report; 
• Voluntary Reconciliation Fund:  $2,800 
 
Building Inspector/Code Administrator

 

:  Mr. Currie presented and reviewed his July 2016 zoning 
and inspections activity report.  The Planning and Zoning Commission met and reviewed the new 
Zoning Map which will be before the Board this evening to call for a Public Hearing.  The Board of 
Adjustment did not meet last month.    

Public Comments
 

  

Mayor Helms reiterated that this Public Comment period was intended for remarks pertaining to 
items listed on the meeting agenda, including staff reports and communications. 
 
Ms. Jane Holt of 229 North Carolina Terrace, stated that she hopes the Oklahoma Road Extension 
Project will not lead to wide roadways.  Ms. Holt would like to see these roads kept in alignment 
with the other roads in Town.   
 
Mrs. Martha Campbell of 149 Maryland Place, wanted to commend the prompt attention the 

Packet Page 36



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Town Council Meeting Minutes 

August 11, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page 

Board gave to the employee health insurance situation.  Mrs. Campbell would like to see Council 
reimburse employees for the difference in the deductible versus what they actually paid for the 
medication or doctors visit.  Mrs. Campbell stated that the Town needs to take care of the 
employees.  She is also researching the possibility of an employee appreciation fund which was 
brought up to Council several years ago.  This type of fund would have alleviated some of the 
stress the employees had to endure because of unanticipated medical costs. 
 
Mr. Don Reid of 127 Shenandoah Terrace, felt that Montreat College has a geographic identity 
crisis, in that it is hard to tell where the College begins and ends.  Mr. Reid stated that proper 
signage is needed for visitors as well as prospective students to find their way around the campus.  
Mr. Reid has also read the Sign Ordinance and finds it to be rather cumbersome.  It is his belief 
that the Town should encourage signs because they add character and beauty.  Mr. Reid hoped 
that Council would look favorable on the changes that Montreat College has requested this 
evening. 
 

 
Old Business 

A.  Texas Road Bridge Discussion:  Commissioner Otto stated that the Montreat Bridge 
Committee presented the Board with 11 recommendations of which they could choose to 
move forward with any or none of the recommendations.  Commissioner Otto also stated that 
conversations with KCI Engineering have not yielded enough information to make it fiscally 
responsible to see if lowering the height of the bridge would even be an option.  Commissioner 
Otto feels that the Town is sitting with $250,000 in an indeterminate status with the possibility 
of an additional $35,000 to $40,000 to be spent.  This money is extremely important to the 
Town of Montreat.  Recent conversations with Ray Lotfi of the NCDOT have indicated that 
there may not be costs associated with reopening the planning documents and if the no-build 
at the Texas Road location is chosen there is a possibility of recouping the $250,000 in planning 
funds.  Commissioner Otto feels that for the health of the community it is time to move on to a 
location and bridge type that will better suit the Town of Montreat.  Commissioner Standaert 
stated that as long as the Texas Road Bridge Project is suspended indefinitely the Town is in 
jeopardy of losing the $250,000.  Commissioner Standaert presented an extensive outline of 
the options involved in the Texas Road Bridge Project as previously outlined by KCI Engineering 
and the NCDOT.    Commissioner Standaert surmised that if the Texas Road Bridge is simply 
postponed indefinitely as the current motion language states then the Town of Montreat is 
liable for expenditures to date to the FHWA and the NCDOT in amounts of an estimated 
$300,000.  Commissioner Standaert also stated that she believes the decision process should 
be more of a step-by-step process rather than starting in the middle.  Commissioner Otto 
reiterated that it is very important that the Town of Montreat does everything possible to 
preserve the monies spent thus far on the project.  He also stated that the majority of people 
in Montreat have spoken and they do not desire a bridge as designed at the current location.  
Commissioner Otto stated that as a Board it is imperative to move forward rather promptly to 
finalize the necessary documents pertaining to Texas Road and move on to other options.  

Packet Page 37



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Town Council Meeting Minutes 

August 11, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page 

Mayor Pro Tem Fouche agreed that the will of the people was to not build a bridge at the 
current location on Texas Road and she does not feel they should take the monetary risk to 
open the documents to see if the bridge could be lowered in height.  Interim Town 
Administrator Al Richardson advised that it was important to decide whether the Town wants 
a bridge at the present location as designed or with the CLOMR which could allow some 
reduction in height.  Mr. Richardson stated that at the last meeting he was directed by the 
Board to reopen the planning documents but he felt that he did not have enough information 
to complete the task.  Mr. Richardson stated that if the planning documents were opened and 
handled in an appropriate manner some of the monies could be waived.  Mayor Pro Tem 
Fouche stated that we are not going to build a vehicular bridge on Texas Road so I will make 
that motion.  Commissioner Otto seconded.  Commissioner Standaert called point of order in 
that this motion went against Rule 4 in the Rules of Procedures which states the Board shall 
hold an Agenda Meeting on the Thursday before the regular monthly meeting to ask questions 
and thoroughly explore the proposals that must be voted on at the regular meeting.   Additions 
to the regular monthly meeting agenda shall not be allowed unless an unexpected and 
pressing matter arises.  This restriction avoids surprise and is consistent with the spirit of the 
Open Meetings Law.  Commissioner Standaert felt that this motion should be added to the 
September agenda for consideration to allow the public time to investigate or comment at the 
Public Forum or Public Comment period.  Mayor Helms noted the objection and called for a 
vote.  The motion carried 2/1 with Commissioner Standaert voting against the motion.  

 

 
New Business 

A. Proposed Revisions to Town of Montreat Official Zoning Map:

 

  Mr. Currie presented an image 
to the Board of the current Town of Montreat Official Zoning Map from 1993 which was 
tattered and torn and contained a lot of handwritten changes and erasures.  Mr. Currie, with 
the assistance of GIS technology, has updated the Zoning Map to include all the adopted 
changes from the original Zoning Map, which dated back to 1984, and compiled a user-friendly 
map that will be helpful for the community as well as staff.  This map, once approved, will be 
posted on the Town of Montreat website for accessibility.  The proposed updates went before 
the Planning & Zoning Committee who approved the changes and can assure that all changes 
have been captured.  Mayor Pro Tem Fouche moved to call for a Public Hearing on September 
8, 2016 at 7:00 p.m. or as soon thereafter as possible to discuss proposed revisions to Town of 
Montreat Official Zoning Map.  Commissioner Otto seconded.  Commissioner Standaert read a 
letter from Former Mayor Taylor which questioned why the conservation districts were not 
represented on this map.  Mr. Currie advised that this map was strictly for zoning purposes and 
the conservation district does not involve zoning.  The motion carried 3/0. 

B. Town Hall Committee:  Commissioner Standaert moved that all meetings of the Town Hall 
Committee, to be appointed by Mayor Helms, will be held as Special Meetings of the Town 
Council, so that all members of the Town Council can attend without any question of violating 
the State of North Carolina Open Meetings Law.  Hearing no second this motion did not carry.   

Packet Page 38



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Town Council Meeting Minutes 

August 11, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page 

 
C. Discussion of Rule 4 of the Town of Montreat Rules of Procedure as it pertains to the role of the 

Agenda Meeting:

 

  Commissioner Standaert stated that over the past year there has been a 
substantial shift in the way the meetings have been conducted.  Commissioner Standaert felt 
that these rules need to be followed more closely as they were written.  Commissioner Otto 
appreciated Commissioner Standaert’s reiteration of Rule 4 but he felt that the Texas Road 
Bridge discussion was a pressing matter that needed to be discussed and it was justified for 
discussion this evening.  Commissioner Standaert outlined several items such as Commissioner 
Otto’s March motion to suspend indefinitely all action on the Texas Road Bridge; other 
examples, were the appointments of the Texas Road Bridge Committee and the Town Hall 
Committee, which she felt were not appropriately handled nor were they pressing manners, 
which had been added to the meetings without first being placed on the agenda.    

D. Blue Cross Blue Shield Insurance Discussion:

 

  Interim Town Administrator Al Richardson stated 
that since the shift from Blue Cross Blue Shield to United Health Care two employees had 
medications denied to them.  In both cases these medications were critical to everyday use.  
The change to United Health Care has resulted in an additional $9816 in expenses for 
prescription co-pays for employees as of date.  When the change to United Health Care was 
last brought before the Board it was agreed upon as long as prescription drug charges did not 
adversely affect anyone.  Mr. Richardson stated that insurance companies could change drug 
formularies at anytime and these formularies do determine the cost of medications.  
Commissioner Standaert moved to switch to Blue Cross Blue Shield Insurance as of September 
1st.  Commissioner Otto seconded.  Commissioner Standaert asked where the estimated 
$12,815 to facilitate the switch would come from in the budget.  Mr. Richardson suggested 
that the monies be moved from Capital Outlay – Public Buildings which currently houses 
planning monies for the new Town Hall Project.  Mayor Helms called for a vote and the motion 
carried 3/0.    

E. Charter Spectrum Internet/Telephone/Television Bundle Service Provider:

 

  Interim Town 
Administrator Richardson advised the Board that the current internet access with AT&T has 
been sporadic with IT providers making multiple visits to the Town Services Building to try to 
resolve the problem.  Electronic Office, who manages the Town’s IT services, recommends 
switching to Charter as well since AT&T connectivity is sporadic due to the distance of the 
Town Service Building from the AT&T outpost building on Montreat Road.  Mr. Richardson 
stated that bundling services will actually save the Town money while also promoting a better 
quality of work.  Commissioner Otto moved to switch the Town of Montreat to Charter 
Spectrum for business television, internet and telephone based on the recommendation from 
Mr. Richardson.  Mayor Pro Tem Fouche seconded.  The motion carried 2/1 with Commissioner 
Standaert voting against the motion. 

 
 

Packet Page 39



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Town Council Meeting Minutes 

August 11, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page 

 
Public Comments-Other Topics 

Mayor Helms reiterated that the Public Comment period were for remarks pertaining to public 
business items not listed on the meeting agenda, including any reports or communications from 
other community entities. 
 
Ms. Beth Fountain of 132 Kanawha Drive, read a prepared letter from Clare and Tom Frist of 98 
Frist Road.  Mr. and Mrs. Frist would like for the Town Council, Mountain Retreat Association and 
the rest of the Montreat Community to consider studying evacuation options in case of 
catastrophic fires or other unforeseen disasters, including the current location of the Montreat 
Gate.   The Frist’s would also like consideration for the new Town Hall to include the Cooley 
property or the former Andy Andrew’s property.  It is rumored that the Cooley’s might be willing 
to sell due to health issues within the home.  They would also like to see a combined Town 
Services Building and a welcome center for all Montreat entities.  The letter also mentioned the 
possibility of making the Montreat Gate walk-through only. 
 
Mr. Mike Sonnenberg of 125 Virginia Road, felt that the Town should increase the realm of wi-fi 
and cell phone coverage in the valley in certain ways.  Mr. Sonnenberg felt that in previous 
situations he was denied the right to present to the Board an item in the form of photos or images 
because he did not get the photos in for approval one week prior to the meeting.   
 
Ms. Beverly Monroe of 129 Assembly Drive, had concerns about stormwater runoff from Quillan  
Lane and Mississippi Road.  Public Works Director Steve Freeman and Code Enforcement Officer 
David Currie visited earlier in the week and advised they were unable to do anything about the 
situation.  Ms. Monroe stated they are going to re-do their parking pad and perhaps install a dry 
creek bed but would like some consideration from Council in assisting with these repairs since the 
water originates from Quillan Lane. 
 
Mrs. Martha Campbell of 149 Maryland Place, announced that on August 27th and 28th there will 
be a celebration at Mt. Mitchell for the 100th Anniversary of the North Carolina State Park Systems.  
It was announced at the Montreat Landcare Meeting that buses would be available in Black 
Mountain to transport people to Mt. Mitchell.  Students from Montreat College will also be 
participating in this event. 
 
Mr. Eric Nichols of 527 Suwannee Drive, advised that himself, Martha Campbell and Former Mayor 
Letta Jean Taylor attended Former Town Administrator Ron Nalley’s first Town Meeting in Lake 
Lure and he seems to be happy and doing well. 
 
Ms. Kristin Janes representing Montreat College, advised that College enrollment is very close to 
the 500 students mark which has never been achieved before.  Ms. Janes advised that students 
will be returning to campus on August 19th and to expect some increase in traffic.   

 

Packet Page 40



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Town Council Meeting Minutes 

August 11, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page 

 
Commissioner Communications 

Mayor Pro Tem Fouche mentioned that she wrote Bob Joyce at the School of Government when 
she was denied attendance to one of the Montreat Bridge Committee meetings.  This comment 
was in response to making the Town Hall Committee Meetings Special Meetings so all 
Commissioners could feel like they could attend without breaking or violating Open Meeting Laws.  
Mr. Joyce advised Mayor Pro Tem Fouche that she was welcome to attend as a citizen but 
cautioned her against sitting with other Commissioners or engaging in conversation.  She advised 
she would send this communication to the Town Clerk.  Mayor Pro Tem Fouche stated she had a 
similar conversation with Mr. Richardson today as well and he agreed with Mr. Joyce.   
 
Commissioner Standaert stated that she will not be attending the Town Hall Committee Meetings 
since in previous years the Town Attorney had cautioned Board Members of attending due to the 
possibility of violation Open Meeting Laws.  Commissioner Standaert advised the Council owns the 
Agenda and they can place items and remove items at will as long as everyone is in agreement.  
Mr. Standaert will be leading hikes on Mt. Mitchell.  Commissioner Standaert briefly touched on 
the stormwater discussion from Ms. Monroe and advised those in attendance that stormwater is  
always included in the annual board retreat, budgeting process and capital improvement plan and 
Council has been advised by Staff repeatedly to address the stormwater issues but there has been 
no public support.  Stormwater Systems and/or the Rain Tax can generate monies to address 
issues of stormwater within the Town. 
 
Commissioner Otto feels that having the Commissioners at the Committee Meetings changes the 
dynamic based on his experience serving on the Montreat Bridge Committee.  Commissioner Otto 
congratulated the college on their enrollment numbers.  Commissioner Otto also congratulated 
Richard DuBose of Montreat Conference on the recently completed summer conference season.  
 

 
Upcoming Meeting Dates 

Mayor Helms reviewed the following list of upcoming meeting dates and deadlines:  
 

August 23, 2016, 10:00 a.m. Montreat Tree Board: 
Town Services Building 

 
September 1, 2016, 7:00 p.m. September Agenda Meeting: 

Walkup Building 
Public Forum begins at 6:30 p.m. 

 

 
Montreat Landcare: September 7, 2016, 9:00 a.m. 

Allen Building 
Swannanoa Room 

 

Packet Page 41



Montreat Board of Commissioners 
Town Council Meeting Minutes 

August 11, 2016 
 

 

Book 14; Page 

September 8, 2016, 7:00 p.m. September Town Council Meeting: 
Walkup Building 

       
 
 

 
Adjournment 

There being no further business, Mayor Pro Tem moved to adjourn the Town Council Meeting. 
Commissioner Otto seconded and the motion carried 3/0.  The meeting was adjourned at 9:27 
p.m.  
 
 
   

Tim Helms, Mayor  Angela Murphy, Town Clerk 

 

Packet Page 42



Appendix 1: 

 

Position Statement 

I disagree with the “surprise” motion passed (2/1) at Town Council (8/11/2016) that no vehicular bridge 
be built on Texas Road.  A vehicular bridge somewhere on Texas Road is needed for connectivity and 
public safety.  A vehicular bridge has been publically supported by (1) the majority of public statements 
in the 2012 Public Input Session and the report of the Montreat Bridge Committee, (2) the Montreat 
Conference Center, (3) Montreat College, and (4) the Police Chief of the Town of Montreat.  This motion 
carries potential financial implications: unknown repayments and possible liability claims due to lack of 
emergency access.  

 

Mary L. Standaert 

Commissioner Town of Montreat 

 

 

 

 

 

 

***Rules of Procedure:  Rule 4, I. Agenda and Regular Meetings, K.:  In the event of a divided vote, each 
side may furnish a signed explanation of its position within seven days of no greater than 100 words in 
length.  This document may be attached as an appendix if approved at the next regularly scheduled 
meeting of the Board.  If this statement is approved I will remove comments between the asterisks and 
make this a permanent part of the minutes.***  

Packet Page 43



 
MONTHLY POLICE STATISTICS REPORT 

AUGUST 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 

Mileage 3402 2952 2503 3041 3030 
Dispatched Calls 143 102 101       115 114 

Officer-Initiated Calls 245 252 201 229 362 
Fire/EMS Assistance Calls 9F,6E 16F,12E 6F,7E 4F,3E 8 

Motorist/Other Assistance Calls 49 81 54 52 30 
Traffic Stops 37 35 21-63G 29 25 

Parking Issues 7 6 3 7 13 
Burglar/Fire Alarm Responses 3B,2F 2B,0F 5B,1F 5B 5 

Residential House/Building Checks 254 211 272 114 117 
Ordinance violations 21 21 13 11 19 

LE Agency Assistance Calls 17 16 17 24 57 
Animal Calls 5 5 9 9 0 

Larcenies 0 0 0 0 0 
B&E Calls 0 0 0 0 0 

Suspicious Person/Vehicle Investigations 10P,19V 8P,21V 12P,9V 11P,4V 15 
Disturbance Calls 8 5 10 2 7 

Accident Responses 0 2 0 2 0 
Auxiliary Hours Worked 40R,30T 24R,48T 32R,32O 40R,148O 140 

Truck turns at gate 2 2 2 3 6 
 
• Town Service:  515 

• MRA Service:  163 

• College Service:  18 

• On 08/01/2016, MPD received an email thanking Officer Whitson for assisting them where their 
car broke down. 

• On 08/03/2016, BCSD received a call about a lost hiker in the Greybeard Wilderness, BMFD and 
MPD were notified.  MPD had some difficulty with communications between agencies.  This will 
be resolved when we complete the new radio CIP project in 2017.  The hiker was located at the 
top of the campgrounds. 

• On 08/06/2016, Officer Whitson completed his intoximeter training. 

• On 08/10/2016, MPD received a call from BCSD reference a subject with warrants for sexual 
battery in our area.  The subject was taken into custody the next day. 

• On 08/12/2016, MPD received a call to assist BCSD with serving civil papers. 

• On 08/13/2016, MPD received a call of a firearm discharged in the Greybeard Trailhead area.  
Several residences were checked in this area.  Officers were unable to locate.  Also on this same 

Packet Page 44



date a call came in reference a harassing and trespassing on West Virginia.  The subjects were 
referred to the magistrates office. 

• On 08/14/2016, MPD received a call of a domestic dispute off of Harmony.  The situation was 
resolved. 

• On 8/15/2016, at approximately 12:45 a.m. Officer Whitson was checking a suspicious vehicle in 
the area of Louisiana Road.  The subject in the vehicle was arrested for open warrants in 
Asheville.   As a result, the Officer also located a missing person in the Black Mountain area. 

• On 08/20/2016, MPD Officer responded to a domestic disturbance in the area of Shenandoah.  
The situation was resolved. 

• On 08/22/2016, Mr. Cannon came into the Town Office to thank Officer Whitson for his 
response to a medical emergency at the Cannon residence.  (He stated that Officer Whitson was 
there before he could turn the lights on.) 

• On 08/24/2016, MPD with deep regrets completed a death scene report in the Town. 

• On 08/27/2016, MPD participated in GHSP along with State Agencies, BCSD and BMPD. 

• On 08/28/2016, MPD received a call reference a suspicious activity at 11:15 p.m. the previous 
evening.  An SUV went up the driveway of a residence and when the floodlights came on the 
vehicle instantly left. (Please be reminded, we are here 24 hours a day.) 

• On 08/29/2016, MPD received a call reference a domestic disturbance at the Memorial Garden 
area.  Upon arrival there was an intoxicated person there.  The subject was arrested by citation. 

Note: MPD would like to thank the Street Department for the excellent job they did on the parking 
area at the Town Services building.  Also an extended thanks to the Montreat College students that 
participated in this project. 

Packet Page 45



Packet Page 46



Packet Page 47



Packet Page 48



Packet Page 49



Packet Page 50



Packet Page 51



Packet Page 52



Packet Page 53



Packet Page 54



Packet Page 55



Packet Page 56



Packet Page 57



                                      General Fund

                                            Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

                                                                        For the Period Ended July, 2016  

FYE 2017 Previously Current FYE 2017 FYE 16 Comparison FYE 2017

Actual to 

Budget %

Statement 

Period Variance 7/31/15

Budgeted Reported Month YTD Actual YTD Actual  Remaining Budget 1

Revenues:

Ad valorem taxes 953,900.00$          -$                      953,900.00$          

Other taxes and licenses 413,700.00$          -$                      413,700.00$          

Unrestricted intergovernmental 105,500.00$          -$                      105,500.00$          

Permits and Fees 45,700.00$            1,585.00$              1,585.00$              7,122.70$                44,115.00$            

Community Service Fee 45,000.00$            9,514.00$              9,514.00$              35,486.00$            

Sales and Services 13,000.00$            1,219.00$              1,219.00$              410.90$                   11,781.00$            

Investment earnings 2,200.00$              165.17$                 165.17$                 71.45$                     2,034.83$              

Other revenues 4,000.00$              2,894.10$              2,894.10$              1,500.00$                1,105.90$              

Subtotal - Normal Operating 1,583,000.00$       15,377.27$            15,377.27$            9,105.05$                1,567,622.73$       0.97% 8.33% -7.36% -13.76%

Restricted intergovernmental 173,200.00$         -$                      56,767.79$              173,200.00$         

Contributions - Landcare -$                      -$                      -$                        -$                      

Contributions - Open Space -$                      -$                      -$                        -$                      

Total Revenues 1,756,200.00         15,377.27              15,377.27              65,872.84$              1,740,822.73         0.88% 8.33% -7.46% -12.17%

Expenditures:

Governing Body 85,500.00$            798.07$                 798.07$                 5,074.59$                84,701.93$            0.93% 8.33% 7.40% 7.65%

Administration 292,400.00$          47,032.33$            47,032.33$            32,243.86$              245,367.67$          16.08% 8.33% -7.75% -2.12%

Public Buildings 140,300.00$          33,685.99$            33,685.99$            34,810.89$              106,614.01$          24.01% 8.33% -15.68% -8.80%

Police 369,000.00$          26,986.17$            26,986.17$            38,982.79$              342,013.83$          7.31% 8.33% 1.02% -1.58%

Building & Zoning 84,200.00$            8,093.47$              8,093.47$              8,427.20$                76,106.53$            9.61% 8.33% -1.28% -0.18%

Public Works 80,400.00$            7,075.97$              7,075.97$              8,899.09$                73,324.03$            8.80% 8.33% -0.47% -0.40%

Streets 695,000.00$          18,329.14$            18,329.14$            21,011.60$              676,670.86$          2.64% 8.33% 5.70% 13.58%

Powell Bill -$                       -$                      -$                      257.47$                   -$                       0.00% 8.33% 0.00% 14.17%

Sanitation 114,200.00$          6,326.29$              6,326.29$              10,149.25$              107,873.71$          5.54% 8.33% 2.79% -0.28%

Env/Cons/Rec 18,000.00$            -$                      -$                      18,000.00$            0.00% 8.33% 8.33% 16.67%

Total expenditures 1,879,000.00         -$                      148,327.43$          148,327.43$          159,856.74$            1,730,672.57$       7.89% 8.33% 0.44% 6.58%

Revenues over expenditures (122,800.00)           -$                      (132,950.16)$        (132,950.16)$        (93,983.90)$            10,150.16$            

Other financing sources (uses):

Transfer to/from Water Fund -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                        -$                       

Fund Balance Appropriated: 122,800.00$          -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                        122,800.00$          

Total other financing sources (uses) 122,800.00$          -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                        122,800.00$          

Revenues and other sources over

  expenditures and other uses -$                       -$                      (132,950.16)$        (132,950.16)$        (93,983.90)$            132,950.16$          

Expenditure Recap:

Salaries & Benefits 926,700.00$          81,493.25$            81,493.25$            86,107.75$              845,206.75$          

Other Operating 399,800.00$          64,524.38$            64,524.38$            73,748.99$              335,275.62$          

CIP/Grant Projects 552,500.00$         2,309.80$              2,309.80$              550,190.20$         

Total Expenditures 1,879,000.00$       -$                      148,327.43$          148,327.43$          159,856.74$            1,730,672.57$       

Packet Page 58



                                      Water Fund

                                            Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances

                                                                        For the Period Ended July, 2016  
                                                                        

FYE 2016 Previously Current FYE 2016 FYE 15 Comparison FYE 2016

Actual to 

Budget 

Percent

Statement 

Period Variance 7/31/15

Budgeted Reported Month YTD Actual YTD Actual  Remaining Budget 1

Revenues:

Ad valorem taxes -$                      -$                       

Other taxes and licenses -$                      -$                       

MRA Comm Svc Fee -$                       -$                      -$                       

Permits and Fees -$                      -$                       

Sales and Services 308,500.00$          32,387.83$            32,387.83$            34,634.55$              276,112.17$          

Investment earnings 500.00$                 20.08$                   20.08$                   6.59$                       479.92$                 

Other revenues 27,500.00$            472.73$                 472.73$                 3,657.17$                27,027.27$            

Subtotal - Normal Operating 336,500.00$          -$                      32,880.64$            32,880.64$            38,298.31$              303,619.36$          

Restricted intergovernmental -$                      -$                      

Total revenues 336,500.00$          -$                      32,880.64$            32,880.64$            38,298.31$              303,619.36$          9.77% 8.33% 1.44% -0.77%

Expenditures:

Water Department 336,500.00$          3,653.68$              3,653.68$              8,813.15$                332,846.32$          1.09% 8.33% 7.25% 7.21%

Total expenditures 336,500.00$          -$                      3,653.68$              3,653.68$              8,813.15$                332,846.32$          1.09% 8.33% 7.25% 7.21%

Revenues over expenditures -$                       -$                      29,226.96$            29,226.96$            29,485.16$              (29,226.96)$           

Other financing sources (uses):

Transfers to/from General Fund -$                       -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                        -$                       

Fund Balance Appropriated: -$                       -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                        -$                       

Total other financing sources (uses) -$                       -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                        -$                       

Revenues and other sources over

  expenditures and other uses -$                       -$                      29,226.96$            29,226.96$            29,485.16$              (29,226.96)$           

Expenditure Recap:

Salaries & Benefits -$                       -$                      -$                      -$                        -$                       

Other Operating 279,500.00$          3,653.68$              3,653.68$              8,813.15$                275,846.32$          

CIP/Grant Projects 57,000.00$           -$                      -$                      -$                        57,000.00$           

Total Expenditures 336,500.00$          445,641.85$          3,653.68$              3,653.68$              8,813.15$                332,846.32$          

Packet Page 59



Packet Page 60



Packet Page 61



Packet Page 62



Packet Page 63



Packet Page 64



Packet Page 65



Packet Page 66



Packet Page 67



Packet Page 68



Packet Page 69



Packet Page 70



Packet Page 71



Packet Page 72



Packet Page 73



Packet Page 74



Packet Page 75



Packet Page 76



Packet Page 77



Packet Page 78



Packet Page 79



Packet Page 80



Packet Page 81



Packet Page 82



Packet Page 83



Packet Page 84



Packet Page 85



Packet Page 86



18" MAX.

(TYPICAL)
CURB

VICTORIAN FLUTED
DECORATIVE CONCRETE

STYLE VII
DECORATIVE ALUMINUM

STANDARD

STYLE V

COLONIAL BLACK
SPUN CONCRETE

13'-0"
MAX.
18"

3'-0"
MAX.

16'-0"

MAX.
3'-0"

16'-0"

11'-0"
MINIMUM

11'-0"
MINIMUM MINIMUM

11'-0"

WHENEVER THE POSTS ARE REPLACED.
5. COMPANY SHALL NOT BE RESPONSIBLE FOR REMOVING AND/OR RE-ATTACHING TOWN'S BANNERS

4. BANNER EDGE SHALL BE A MINIMUM OF 6" FROM THE BACK OF CURB.

3. NO HOLES CAN BE DRILLED IN COMPANY POSTS.

2. NO BANNERS CAN BE INSTALLED ON ANY 12' POSTS OR ANY 16' FIBERGLASS POSTS.

1. COMPANY WILL ALLOW CITIES TO ATTACH BANNERS ON COMPANY DECORATIVE LIGHT POSTS.

EDGE OF

MATTOCKS5/26/10

NOTES:

BANNERS ON COMPANY DECORATIVE LIGHT POSTS

BANNER

BANNERBANNER

BANNERS ON DECORATIVE LIGHTING POSTS POLICY

30.01-03
DWG.

18" MAX.

18" MAX.

NOTE 5
SEE

6" MIN.

0

3

2

1

APPR.REVISED BY CK'D

LARSENGUY

MATTOCKS1/25/11 LARSENGUY

8/9/11 LARSENGUY

6. CUSTOMER COVENANTS AND AGREES THAT NOTHING HEREIN CONTAINED OR CONTEMPLATED IS INTENDED
TO INCREASE COMPANY’S RISK OR LIABILITY FOR PERSONAL INJURY OR DEATH OR FOR PROPERTY DAMAGE
AND IT IS HEREBY EXPRESSLY UNDERSTOOD AND AGREED THAT COMPANY DOES NOT ASSUME ANY SUCH
ADDITIONAL RISK. CUSTOMER, FOR ITSELF AND ITS SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS, AGREES THAT IT DOES
HEREBY RELIEVE COMPANY OF AND ABSOLVE COMPANY, AND SHALL INDEMNIFY, DEFEND AND HOLD 
HARMLESS COMPANY FROM ALL SUCH RISK AND LIABILITY ARISING OR GROWING OUT OF THE CUSTOMER'S
USE OF, OR ENTRY UPON, OR OCCUPANCY OF COMPANY’S POLES AND FACILITIES AS PROVIDED HEREIN, AND
FOR BREACHES OF THE WARRANTIES CONTAINED IN THIS AGREEMENT BY CUSTOMER, ITS CONTRACTORS, 
SUBCONTRACTORS, AGENTS, EMPLOYEES, OR REPRESENTATIVES.

9/19/11 LARSENGUY

Packet Page 87



NOTES:

DWG.

30.01-04

BANNER BANNER

6'-0"

COMPANY WILL ALLOW CITIES TO ATTACH BANNERS AND FLAGS ON STEEL OR WOOD POLES AND AREA LIGHT

2. THE MAXIMUM SIZE BANNER ALLOWED IS 28-1/2" WIDE BY 6' TALL. FLAGS MUST NOT EXCEED 3' WIDE 

1. BANNERS AND FLAGS CAN BE PLACED ON THE 30' STEEL, 30' SQUARE DECORATIVE OR 35' STEEL DAVIT POLES.

3. THE BANNERS MUST HAVE HALF CIRCLE AIR VENTS OR SIMILAR CUT INTO THEM TO REDUCE WIND LOADING

4. THE BANNERS MUST BE MOUNTED USING BRACKETS WITH STAINLESS STEEL BANDING TO MATCH THE POLE
COLOR. NO DRILLING OF HOLES INTO THE STEEL POLES IS ALLOWED.

BANNERS ON COMPANY LIGHT POLES POLICY

5. THE LOWER BANNER ARM OR FLAG MUST BE MOUNTED 11' ABOVE THE BASE FLANGE OF THE STEEL OR WOOD

7. COMPANY SHALL NOT BE RESPONSIBLE FOR REMOVING AND/OR REBANDING TOWN'S BANNERS WHENEVER
THE POLES ARE REPLACED.

POLES IF THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS ARE MET:

LIGHT POLE.

STANDARD
BASE

CN 10402808
30'

STEEL DAVIT POLE

CN 10400802

STEEL ANCHOR BASE
30'

STEEL ANCHOR BASE

CN 10400901
35'

BANNER

5 AND 6
SEE NOTES

5" SQUARE DECORATIVE

5" SQUARE DECORATIVE

6. IF POLES ARE LOCATED WITHIN 3'-0" OF "BACK OF CURB" DO NOT INSTALL BANNERS OR FLAGS ON ROAD SIDE
OF POLE UNLESS IT MEETS THE (NESC) 15 FT. CLEARANCE ABOVE ROADWAY.

GUINN LARSEN

CN 10400703 BLACK

CN 10400604 BRONZE

BANNERS AND FLAGS ON STEEL OR WOOD

LIGHTING POLES POLICY

(NON-STANDARD)
W/ ADDITIONAL FACILITIES

CHARGES

28-1/2"

0

3

2

1

APPR.REVISED BY CK'D

11/9/10 MATTOCKS

X 5' TALL.

FLAG

3'-0"

5'-0"

5 AND 6
SEE NOTES

AND POLE DEFLECTION. FLAG POLE MUST HAVE A FREE SPINNING DEVICE SO THAT FLAG WILL FLY FREELY
AND NOT TWIST ON POLE.

GUY LARSEN9/19/11

8. CUSTOMER COVENANTS AND AGREES THAT NOTHING HEREIN CONTAINED OR CONTEMPLATED IS INTENDED
TO INCREASE COMPANY’S RISK OR LIABILITY FOR PERSONAL INJURY OR DEATH OR FOR PROPERTY DAMAGE
AND IT IS HEREBY EXPRESSLY UNDERSTOOD AND AGREED THAT COMPANY DOES NOT ASSUME ANY SUCH
ADDITIONAL RISK. CUSTOMER, FOR ITSELF AND ITS SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS, AGREES THAT IT DOES
HEREBY RELIEVE COMPANY OF AND ABSOLVE COMPANY, AND SHALL INDEMNIFY, DEFEND AND HOLD 
HARMLESS COMPANY FROM ALL SUCH RISK AND LIABILITY ARISING OR GROWING OUT OF THE CUSTOMER'S
USE OF, OR ENTRY UPON, OR OCCUPANCY OF COMPANY’S POLES AND FACILITIES AS PROVIDED HEREIN, AND
FOR BREACHES OF THE WARRANTIES CONTAINED IN THIS AGREEMENT BY CUSTOMER, ITS CONTRACTORS, 
SUBCONTRACTORS, AGENTS, EMPLOYEES, OR REPRESENTATIVES.

Packet Page 88



NOTES:

DWG.

30.01-05
11/9/10

BANNERS ON COMPANY LIGHT POLES POLICY

MATTOCKS GUINN LARSEN

BANNERS AND FLAGS
ON FIBERGLASS OR CONCRETE

LIGHTING POLES POLICY

CURB

5'

25 FT, 30 FT AND 35 FT POLE

DIRECT EMBEDDED FIBERGLASS

CU PLFG35GYC

35' MOUNTING HEIGHT

CN 10403020

31'-0"

29 FT POLE

5'

5. IF POLES ARE LOCATED WITHIN 3'-0" OF "BACK OF CURB", DO NOT INSTALL BANNERS OR FLAGS ON ROAD

6. COMPANY SHALL NOT BE RESPONSIBLE FOR REMOVING AND/OR RE-INSTALLING TOWN'S BANNERS OR FLAGS

4. THE LOWER BANNER ARM OR FLAG MUST BE MOUNTED 11' ABOVE GRADE OF THE FIBERGLASS OR CONCRETE

COLOR. NO DRILLING OF HOLES INTO THE FIBERGLASS POLES IS ALLOWED.
3. THE BANNERS MUST BE MOUNTED USING BRACKETS WITH STAINLESS STEEL BANDING TO MATCH THE POLE

2. THE BANNERS MUST HAVE HALF CIRCLE AIR VENTS OR SIMILAR CUT INTO THEM TO REDUCE WIND LOADING

1. THE MAXIMUM SIZE BANNER ALLOWED IS 28 1/2" WIDE BY 6' TALL. FLAGS MUST NOT EXCEED 3' WIDE X 5'

AND POLE DEFLECTION. FLAG POLE MUST HAVE A FREE SPINNING DEVICE SO THAT FLAG WILL FLY FREELY 

SIDE OF POLE UNLESS IT MEETS (NESC) 15 FT. CLEARANCE ABOVE ROADWAY.

WHENEVER THE POLES ARE REPLACED.

PROGRESS ENERGY WILL ALLOW CITIES TO ATTACH BANNERS OR FLAGS ON BOTH GRAY AND BLACK FIBERGLASS
OR CONCRETE STREET AND AREA LIGHT POLES IF THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS ARE MET:

BANNER BANNER

28-1/2" 28-1/2"

6'-0"

0

3

2

1

APPR.REVISED BY CK'D

CONCRETE POLE, 950 LBS

CN 9220086452
CU PLCC29BLC

24'-7"

LIGHT POLE.

FLAG

TALL.

3'-0"

5'-0"

SEE NOTES
4 AND 5

POLE TOP

SPUN, PRESTRESSED

FLAG

3'-0"

5'-0"

AND NOT TWIST ON POLE.

9/19/11 GUY LARSEN

7. CUSTOMER COVENANTS AND AGREES THAT NOTHING HEREIN CONTAINED OR CONTEMPLATED IS INTENDED
TO INCREASE COMPANY’S RISK OR LIABILITY FOR PERSONAL INJURY OR DEATH OR FOR PROPERTY DAMAGE
AND IT IS HEREBY EXPRESSLY UNDERSTOOD AND AGREED THAT COMPANY DOES NOT ASSUME ANY SUCH
ADDITIONAL RISK. CUSTOMER, FOR ITSELF AND ITS SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS, AGREES THAT IT DOES
HEREBY RELIEVE COMPANY OF AND ABSOLVE COMPANY, AND SHALL INDEMNIFY, DEFEND AND HOLD 
HARMLESS COMPANY FROM ALL SUCH RISK AND LIABILITY ARISING OR GROWING OUT OF THE CUSTOMER'S
USE OF, OR ENTRY UPON, OR OCCUPANCY OF COMPANY’S POLES AND FACILITIES AS PROVIDED HEREIN, AND
FOR BREACHES OF THE WARRANTIES CONTAINED IN THIS AGREEMENT BY CUSTOMER, ITS CONTRACTORS, 
SUBCONTRACTORS, AGENTS, EMPLOYEES, OR REPRESENTATIVES.

Packet Page 89



Packet Page 90



Packet Page 91



Packet Page 92



This is what we might like to see . . . 
 

       

 

 

 

Packet Page 93



     

 

Packet Page 94



 But . . . this is what we may end up with! 

 

 

Packet Page 95



TOWN OF MONTREAT BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
Meeting Date:  September 8, 2016 

 
SUBJECT: Proposed Revisions to Town of Montreat Official Zoning Map 

AGENDA INFORMATION

Agenda Location: Old Business 

: 

Item Number:  A 
Department:  Planning and Zoning 
Contact:  David Currie  
Presenter:  David Currie 

BRIEF SUMMARY:

 

      The original Official Zoning Map for the Town of Montreat was adopted 
in 1985, with the later (current effective) version created with assistance from Land of Sky 
Regional Council in 1993. Since its adoption, many map amendments have occurred which 
required hand-drawn changes to the map. This practice, coupled with the normal wear and tear 
that occurs with nearly twenty five years of use has resulted in significant deterioration of the 
original paper document. Recently, staff created a newly-updated version of the Official Zoning 
Map using GIS software. The new map incorporates all amendments that have occurred to the 
original document since 1985.    

RECOMMENDED MOTION AND REQUESTED ACTIONS: To adopt Ordinance #16-09-0001 
amending the Town of Montreat Official Zoning Map 

FUNDING SOURCE:  None  

ATTACHMENTS:   Town of Montreat North Carolina Official Zoning Map, 1993; Town of 
Montreat North Carolina Official Zoning Map, 2016 

STAFF COMMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS:    During the July 21st, 2016 meeting of the 
Montreat Planning and Zoning Commission, members reviewed both editions of the Official 
Zoning Map for comparison and to verify the accuracy of the proposed document. Staff spent 
many hours refining the map, experimenting with various color and texture schema. We believe 
the new map provides a user-friendly tool that balances adequate essential information with an 
accessible layout. The digital version of the map is housed within our GIS system and provides 
even more data and detailed information for use by town staff. We currently use this system 
for many functions - in addition to zoning - such as: to keep track of our water supply system 
feature locations; catalog roadway age and condition; map surface water features and 
regulatory buffers; display regulatory floodplain boundaries from FEMA data, etc. Once 
adopted, the new map will provide an excellent additional reference to be used in assisting 
members of the public to quickly access basic zoning information about their property. 

Packet Page 96



TOWN OF MONTREAT 
 

P. O. Box 423 
Montreat, NC 28757 

Tel: (828)669-8002   Fax: (828)669-3810 
www.townofmontreat.org 

 
ORDINANCE #16-09-0001 TO AMEND 

TOWN OF MONTREAT OFFICIAL ZONING MAP
 

WHEREAS, the Town of Montreat Official Zoning Map was adopted by the Board of 
Commissioners of the Town of Montreat, North Carolina on November 14, 1985 and amended 
on several occasions since the date of its adoption; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in following with the current procedures, regulations and policies, changes 
within the Map has been recommended; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Montreat Planning and Zoning Commission has reviewed the proposed 
revisions and presented to the Board of Commissioners its recommendation that the suggested 
revisions are consistent with the Town’s adopted land use policies; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners concludes that the proposed Map revision is 

necessary in order to support the policies embodied in the Town of Montreat Comprehensive 
Plan; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF THE 
TOWN OF MONTREAT, that the Town of Montreat Official Zoning Map, 2016 be adopted as 
follows, and to become effective upon the date of its adoption: 
 

*See Attached Map* 
 
READ, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED, this the ___ day of ____________, 20__. 
 
 
 
      ______________________________ 
      Tim Helms, Mayor 
 
       
ATTEST: 
 
I hereby certify this is a true and correct copy of this Map, duly adopted by the Town of 
Montreat on the ___ day of ____________, 2016 as it appears of record in the official minutes. 
 
 
______________________________  
Angela Murphy 
Town Clerk 

Packet Page 97

http://www.townofmontreat.org/�


Recommendation for Town of Montreat Sign Ordinance Addition: 
 
Pole-Mounted Banners. Single- or double-sided banner support structures 
shall be permitted on private property if attached to new or existing 
lighting poles in conformity with current policies established by the 
regulating utility. Specific guidance as to the size, height above grade and 
pedestrian ways, attachment, etc. is available from the regulating utility, 
and a copy is available for review at the office of the Zoning Official. Pole-
mounted banners are to be permitted on Town right-of-way that borders 
the owner’s property. Banner display structures shall be properly 
maintained by the owner, and must be removed if unadorned by banner(s) 
for more than forty-eight (48) hours.  
 

Packet Page 98



Packet Page 99



Packet Page 100



Packet Page 101



Packet Page 102



Packet Page 103



Packet Page 104



Packet Page 105



Packet Page 106



Packet Page 107



Packet Page 108



Packet Page 109


	DRAFT_09012016_BOC_Agenda_PublicForum
	DRAFT_09012016_BOC_Agenda2
	1985 Official Zoning Map
	2016 Official Montreat Zoning Map
	US Motto Brochure
	Motto Invitation for Officials
	Motto All Locatons Approved
	Sheet1

	Motto Case Law # 04-1753 Lambeth vs Davidson County
	Motto Resolution For Cities
	DRAFT_08042016_BOC_Agenda_PublicForum_Meeting_Minutes
	UBoard members presentU: Mayor Tim Helms
	Mayor Pro Tem Kitty Fouche

	DRAFT_08042016_BOC_Agenda_Meeting_Minutes
	UBoard members presentU: Mayor Tim Helms
	Mayor Pro Tem Kitty Fouche
	UAgenda Approval
	Mayor Helms advised the Board that Montreat College had asked to deliver a presentation at next week’s meeting regarding signage, pole banner requests and consideration for special parking.  There was a brief discussion about whether it would simply b...
	UMayor’s Communications
	Mayor Helms stated that he had no further communications.
	UConsent Agenda Review
	The proposed Consent Agenda will include the following items:
	UAdministrative Reports
	UPublic Comment – Agenda Items
	Mayor Helms reiterated that this Public Comment period was intended for remarks pertaining to items listed on the meeting agenda, including staff reports and communications.
	There were no comments from the public at this time.
	UOld Business
	A. UTexas Road Bridge Discussion:U  Commissioner Standaert felt there were some inconsistencies between the letter from DeWayne Sikes of KCI Associates of NC dated August 2, 2016 and an email from Ray Lotfi of North Carolina Department of Transportati...
	UNew Business
	A. UProposed Revisions to Town of Montreat Official Zoning Map:U  The Board will be asked to call for a Public Hearing on September 8, 2016 at 7:00 p.m. or as soon thereafter as possible to discuss proposed revisions to Town of Montreat Official Zonin...
	B. UTown Hall Committee:U  Commissioner Standaert feels that all meetings of the newly formed Town Hall Committee should be held as Special Meetings of the Town Council, so that all members of the Town Council can attend without any question of violat...
	C. UDiscussion of Rule 4 of the Town of Montreat Rules of Procedure as it pertains to the role of the Agenda Meeting:U  Commissioner Standaert feels that the Board has drifted away from the previously established Rules of Procedure and she feels that ...
	D. UBlue Cross Blue Shield Insurance Discussion:U  Mayor Helms advised that when the Board switched from Blue Cross Blue Shield to United Health Care on July 1st it was with the understanding that employees would not be negatively affected with co-pay...
	E. UCharter Spectrum Internet/Cable/Telephone Bundle Discussion:U  Interim Town Administrator Al Richardson will present to the Board the cost savings of switching to Charter Spectrum Business Bundle and the positive impact it will have on the quality...
	UPublic Comment-Other Topics
	Mayor Helms reiterated that this Public Comment period was intended for remarks pertaining to public business items not listed on the meeting agenda, including any reports or communications from other community entities.
	There were no comments from the public at this time.
	UCommissioner Communications
	UUpcoming Meeting Dates
	Mayor Helms reviewed the following list of upcoming meeting dates and deadlines next week.
	UAdjournment

	DRAFT_08112016_BOC_Meeting_Minutes
	UBoard members presentU: Mayor Tim Helms
	UAgenda Approval
	Commissioner Standaert moved to adopt the agenda.  Commissioner Otto seconded and the motion carried 3/0.
	UMayor’s Communications
	Mayor Helms announced the members of the Town Hall Committee whom he appointed at the request of a motion from Mayor Pro Tem Fouche at the July Town Council Meeting.  The members are as follows:  Chairman Brinkley Melvin, Bill Scheu, Mayor Pro Tem Kit...
	UPresentation to Council:  Montreat College Campus Signage Proposal
	Annie Carlson, Executive Director of Marketing & Communications and Kristin Janes, Vice President for Enrollment Management of Montreat College presented a Campus Signage Proposal to the Board in the hopes of promoting awareness, school spirit, proper...
	The College has two signage requests:  Admission/Guest parking on Gaither Circle and Light Pole Banners.  Admissions saw a 40% increase in campus visitors during the 2015-2016 school year and is expected to continue to increase in 2016-2017.  There is...
	Montreat College Staff would like to have approval to install 30 Light Pole Banners on the Montreat College campus including some areas of town right-of-way.  These banners are intended to build visitor awareness of Montreat College visually; instill ...
	UConsent Agenda Review
	UTown Administrator’s Communications
	UAdministrative Reports
	UPublic CommentsU
	Mayor Helms reiterated that this Public Comment period was intended for remarks pertaining to items listed on the meeting agenda, including staff reports and communications.
	Ms. Jane Holt of 229 North Carolina Terrace, stated that she hopes the Oklahoma Road Extension Project will not lead to wide roadways.  Ms. Holt would like to see these roads kept in alignment with the other roads in Town.
	Mrs. Martha Campbell of 149 Maryland Place, wanted to commend the prompt attention the Board gave to the employee health insurance situation.  Mrs. Campbell would like to see Council reimburse employees for the difference in the deductible versus what...
	Mr. Don Reid of 127 Shenandoah Terrace, felt that Montreat College has a geographic identity crisis, in that it is hard to tell where the College begins and ends.  Mr. Reid stated that proper signage is needed for visitors as well as prospective stude...
	UOld Business
	A. U Texas Road Bridge Discussion:U  Commissioner Otto stated that the Montreat Bridge Committee presented the Board with 11 recommendations of which they could choose to move forward with any or none of the recommendations.  Commissioner Otto also st...
	UNew Business
	UUpcoming Meeting Dates
	Mayor Helms reviewed the following list of upcoming meeting dates and deadlines:
	UAdjournment

	DRAFT_APPENDIX1_08112016
	Aug 2016 Monthly Statistics Report
	SolidWasteReport2015-2016
	201607 BudgettoActual
	JUl 16 detail
	August Zoning & Inspections Report
	(1) Duke-Progress Energy Banner Policy
	(2) Utility_Pole_Map_Hinkle_2013
	(3) Utility_Pole_Inventory_Hinkle_2013
	(4) Pole Banner Images 1-2
	(5) Pole Banner Images 3
	REQUEST_Zoning_Map_Public_Hearing_09082016
	UAGENDA INFORMATIONU:
	Contact:  David Currie

	Ordinance_Adopting_Official_Montreat_Zoning_Map_2016
	Pole-Mounted Banners Recommendation_v3
	BJoyceemail
	EmailFromJimmyTravis
	STRemail

	Button1: 


